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General information 

ISP CB Pubblico S.r.l. was incorporated on 14 November 2007 and its sole business object is the acquisition 
for consideration from banks of loans and securities within one or more covered bond issues in accordance 
with article 7-bis of Law no. 130 of 30 April 1999 and related implementing measures. 
On 20 May 2009, the vehicle signed a “master sale agreement” (most recently revised on 19 April 2013) 
covering the sale of an initial portfolio of loans and subsequent portfolios as part of a single covered bond 
Programme for which it is the guarantor. 
Its registered office is in Via Monte di Pietà 8, Milan and it does not have any branches and/or subsidiaries. 

The vehicle does not have any employees and outsources all the functions necessary for the management of 
its operations, including the internal control systems, to specifically appointed third parties. Specifically, the 
vehicle has assigned the management of the loan and securities portfolio acquired to the Servicer Intesa 
Sanpaolo S.p.A. in accordance with the provisions of Law no. 130/1999; likewise, it has assigned the 
management of administrative, accounting, tax and corporate obligations to Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. 
(Administrative Services Provider).  

Performance 

The Programme ran according to plan in 2021 and no new sales of assets were made. There were two 
payment dates: the first (31 March 2021) relating to cash flows from loan collections from 1 August 2020 to 31 
January 2021; and the second (30 September 2021) relating to cash flows from loan collections from 1 
February 2021 to 31 July 2021.  

On 27 January 2021, at the legal maturity date, the third series of covered bonds, amounting to €1,500 million, 
with a fixed rate of 5%, issued on 27 January 2011, was fully redeemed. The related hedging swap was 
terminated in the same month. 

The fourteenth series of covered bonds was issued on 18 February 2021, in the amount of €1,000 million, 
maturing on 6 October 2026, at a floating six-month Euribor plus a spread of 0.04%.  
The bonds pay six-monthly coupons on 6 April and 6 October each year. They were listed on the Luxembourg 
stock exchange and were rated A2 by Moody’s. 

The maximum total amount of the Programme authorised by the Board of Directors on 24 May 2011 is €20 
billion. 

The table below summarises the main features of the covered bonds issued by Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. since 
the start of the Programme that had not yet matured and/or been cancelled and redeemed as at 31 December 
2021. 

Issues (Programme maximum amount: €20 billion)  

 Series   Date of issue  Legal maturity 
date  Issue Amount  Rate  Listing 

exchange  Type 

 10 23/10/2015 06/10/2022  250,000,000  6-month Euribor +0.25% Luxembourg retained 

 12 22/04/2016 06/10/2023  1,275,000,000  6-month Euribor +0.23% Luxembourg retained 

 13 17/05/2017 06/10/2024  1,050,000,000  6-month Euribor +0.20% Luxembourg retained 

 14 18/02/2021 06/10/2026  1,000,000,000  6-month Euribor +0.04% Luxembourg retained 

 3,575,000,000  

The subordinated loan was repaid during the year, in the amount of €400 million, on the Guarantor Payment 
Date of 31 March 2021, using the cash and cash equivalents posted during the period, deriving from the 
collection of the principal from the assets of the underlying portfolio.  

See point H of Part D - Other information in the Notes to the Financial Statements, for more information on the 
vehicle’s operations. 
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Transactions with Group Companies  

As required by article 2497 and following of the Italian Civil Code, it is noted that the vehicle has current 
accounts with Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A., which currently bear agreed interest rates. 
In accordance with the contractual documentation signed for the completion of the Transaction and valid until 
its termination, the vehicle has recognised the following amounts, in its segregated assets, as fees for the 
services provided by Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. through the Administration & Tax Department, the Corporate 
Bodies and Corporate Affairs Department, and the Banca dei Territori Division: 

• €1,510,115 for servicing fees;
• €12,000 for receivable account bank fees;
• €50,000 for administrative services fees;
• €10,000 for cash management fees;
• €55,843 for account bank fees;
• €500 for fees for the performance of services required by the EMIR.

The contractual documentation includes the Servicing Agreement, the Cash Allocation Management and 
Payment Agreement, the Administrative Services Agreement, and the Mandate Agreement (and any 
amendments and/or additions thereto subsequent to the finalisation of the Transaction). 
The notes to the financial statements provide more information about the vehicle’s cash transactions and 
commitments with the other group companies. 

Related-party transactions 

With regard to the disclosure of related-party transactions, significant and non-recurring events and 
transactions, and positions or transactions deriving from atypical and/or unusual transactions, the following is 
noted: 

Related-party transactions  
See Part D - Other information, Section 6 - Related-party transactions, for details of the related-party 
transactions. 

Significant and non-recurring transactions 
No significant and non-recurring transactions were carried out in 2021. 

Atypical and/or unusual transactions  
No atypical and/or unusual transactions were carried out in 2021. 

Treasury quotas and/or shares in the parent company 

The vehicle does not hold, nor has it ever held in its portfolio, treasury quotas and/or shares of the parent 
company. 

Research and development 

The vehicle does not carry out research and development. 

Composition of the Quota Capital 

The Quota Capital, subscribed and paid in for a total of €120,000, is divided into quotas and is held as follows: 
• Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. holds a nominal amount of €72,000, equal to 60% of the Quota Capital;
• Stichting Viridis 2, with registered office in Amsterdam in the Netherlands, holds a nominal amount of

€48,000, equal to 40% of the Quota Capital.

Management and coordination activities 

In accordance with the provisions of article 2497 bis of the Italian Civil Code, we specify that the vehicle is 
subject to management and coordination by the parent company Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. 



ISP CB Pubblico S.r.l.                                                                                2021 Annual Report                                                                                                                             
   
  

 11

Key events of the year 
 
No significant events occurred during the year in relation to the vehicle. 
 
However, in 2021, despite the gradual reabsorption of the economic and financial effects of the pandemic, the 
macroeconomic environment continued to be characterised by extraordinary circumstances, instability and 
uncertainty linked to the evolution of the COVID-19 pandemic. 
High vaccination penetration in the advanced and several emerging countries has reduced the sensitivity of 
the global economy to the resurgence of the COVID-19 pandemic. Economic growth is mainly being driven by 
the recovery in demand for services related to reopenings, while manufacturing is now significantly constrained 
by difficulties in international logistics, shortages of intermediate goods and commodities, as well as problems 
of sector reallocation of labour. We are seeing a widespread acceleration in inflation, albeit largely driven by 
the energy component. The economic indices for the Eurozone indicate that GDP growth was strong. 
Economic activity in Italy also picked up sharply, resulting in a modest increase in employment and a decline 
in the unemployment rate.  
 
In terms of support for the real economy and financial markets, governments and central banks are continuing 
their support initiatives, which have shown that they can effectively contain the effects of the crisis and support 
businesses and households in the most difficult times of the recession. However, it is important to note that, 
although they have diminished, there are still concerns about the ability of a significant proportion of businesses 
and households to continue independently along the path of recovery when the support measures come to an 
end.  
 
That said, for the vehicle’s operations, the adverse effects of the economic and financial crisis resulting from 
the COVID-19 pandemic and the continued macroeconomic uncertainty have not had an impact on the 
management of the vehicle. 
Also with regard to the segregated assets, due to the type of assets securitised (loans and securities to 
government entities), there were no increases in impairment losses to loans during the year and there were 
no significant effects on the performance of operations. 
In this regard, you are reminded that the individual and collective valuations of the securitised loans, as well 
as their classification, are provided by Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A., the originator and servicer of the outstanding 
securitisation. 
 
Events after the reporting date 
 
After the reporting date, a military conflict broke out between Russia and Ukraine, which constitutes an event 
that does not require any adjustments in relation to the year 2021.  
The preliminary analyses carried out did not identify anything in particular that could significantly affect the 
future financial position, operating performance and cash flows of the vehicle, which does not have any 
exposures to counterparties resident in the above-mentioned countries, or the operation of the Programme, 
which will be carefully monitored over the course of the year, given that it is currently impossible to make any 
detailed forecasts regarding all the possible effects connected to the constantly evolving situation.  
 
Outlook 
 
The vehicle’s future operations will be aimed at the orderly continuation of the covered bond issue Programme. 
 
Going concern 
 
In preparing the financial statements, an assessment was made of the existence of the conditions relating to 
the vehicle’s ability to operate as a going concern over a period of at least twelve months after the reporting 
date. In making this assessment, all available information was taken into account, as well as the specific activity 
conducted by the vehicle, whose exclusive purpose, in accordance with Law No. 130 of 30 April 1999, is to 
carry out one or more transactions involving the issuance of covered bonds. 
Therefore, the Board of Directors – despite the current situation of instability – has a reasonable expectation 
that the vehicle’s operations will continue in a stable manner, also considering that its viability is guaranteed 
by the chargeback of costs to the segregated assets.  
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Accordingly, the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 have been prepared on a going 
concern basis as there are no events or conditions that could cast doubt on the vehicle’s ability to continue as 
a going concern.  
The management of the segregated assets was also not particularly affected by the pandemic crisis, given the 
nature of the securitised assets, consisting of loans and securities with government entities, and the presence 
of hedging in the form of asset swaps on the segregated assets.  

Profit/(loss) for the year 

The vehicle ended the year 2021 at break-even because the operating costs were charged back to segregated 
assets in accordance with the contractual agreements.  

Proposal to the quotaholders to approve the financial statements 

We present the financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2021 for your approval. They 
comprise a statement of financial position, a statement of income, a statement of comprehensive income, a 
statement of changes in equity, a statement of cash flows, the notes to the financial statements with the related 
annexes, and this report on operations.  
The vehicle ended the year 2021 at breakeven and consequently there is no allocation of profit to be made.  

Milan, 24 February 2022 

on behalf of the BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
Chairperson 

Paola Fandella 
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Report of the Board of Statutory Auditors 



ISP CB PUBBLICO S.R.L. 

Registered Office: Via Monte di Pietà, 8 - 20121 Milan  
Company incorporated pursuant to Law no. 130 of 30 April 1999 

Quota Capital €120,000  
Tax Code and Registration number in the Milan Monza Brianza Lodi Company Register 

05936150969  
Member of the Intesa Sanpaolo VAT Group 
VAT No. 11991500015 (IT11991500015)  
ABI Code 16831, Electronic Code 335075  

Company subject to management and coordination by Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. and member of 
the Intesa Sanpaolo Banking Group, included in the National Register of Banking Groups 

REPORT OF THE BOARD OF STATUTORY AUDITORS 
ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 

Distinguished Shareholders, 
We would like state first of all that – in fulfilling the duties assigned to us by the current 
regulations, which require us to supervise compliance with the law and the articles of 
association; adherence to the principles of proper management; adequacy of the vehicle’s 
organisational structure; outsourced operations; adequacy of the internal control system; 
adequacy and reliability of the administrative and accounting system; the independent audit 
of the accounts and the independence of the auditors; and the annual financial statements 
and the directors’ report – we have adhered to the Rules of Conduct for the Board of Statutory 
Auditors issued by the National Councils for the Accounting Professions, as well as the 
“Operating Guidelines for the Boards of Statutory Auditors, also acting as supervisory bodies, 
of the Italian subsidiaries of the Intesa Sanpaolo Group - 2018 Update” drawn up by the Parent 
Company’s Management Control Committee. 

The Board of Statutory Auditors has examined the draft financial statements for the year ended 
31 December 2021 approved by the Board of Directors on 24 February 2022. 

This report has been prepared by the Board of Statutory Auditors in accordance with article 
153 of Legislative Decree no. 58 of 24 February 1998, based on the recommendations 
provided by CONSOB in its Communication no. 1025564 of 6 April 2001 as amended, which 
are referred to specifically in the “Operating Guidelines for the Boards of Statutory Auditors, 
also when acting as supervisory bodies, of the Italian subsidiaries of the Intesa Sanpaolo Group 
– 2018 Update” drawn up by the Parent Company’s Management Control Committee.  

I. Preliminary information on the legal provisions governing the preparation of the Financial
Statements of ISP CB Pubblico S.r.l. at 31 December 2021.
The financial statements at 31 December 2021, which are being submitted for examination
and approval by the Shareholders’ Meeting, pursuant to Legislative Decree no. 38 of 28
February 2005, have been prepared in accordance with the International Accounting Standards
(IAS) and the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) applicable at 31 December
2021 issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the related
interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC),
endorsed by the European Commission in accordance with Regulation (EC) No. 1606 of 19 July
2002. The accounting policies applied to prepare these financial statements are consistent
with those used for the 2020 financial statements.



The notes to the financial statements list the new international accounting standards or 
amendments to the accounting standards already in force, together with the related 
endorsement regulations by the European Commission, distinguishing between the: 
- new international accounting standards and/or amendments coming into force in 2021;
- new international accounting standards and/or amendments to the accounting standards,

which will become mandatory on 1 January 2022 – for financial statements reflecting the
calendar year – or after that date.

The directors noted that the changes introduced by the IAS/IFRS have not had any effect on 
the vehicle’s statement of financial position and income statement figures stating, for the 
purpose of full disclosure, that the IAS/IFRS accounting treatment to be applied to financial 
assets and/or groups of financial assets and financial liabilities arising from “covered bond 
issues” is still subject to further examination by the bodies responsible for interpreting the 
accounting standards.   

The financial statements comprise a statement of financial position, an income statement, a 
statement of comprehensive income, a statement of changes in equity, a statement of cash 
flows, and the notes to the financial statements. They are accompanied by a directors’ report 
which comments on the vehicle’s performance, results, financial position and cash flows for 
the year. 
The sole business purpose of the vehicle is the acquisition for consideration from banks of 
loans and securities, also issued through securitisations, within one or more covered bond 
issues in accordance with article 7-bis of Law no. 130 of 30 April 1999 and the related 
implementing measures. As a result, the layouts that apply to financial intermediaries have 
been used in these financial statements, in accordance with the guidance set out in the update 
of the document “The IFRS financial statements of intermediaries other than banking 
intermediaries” issued by the Bank of Italy on 29 October 2021. 

In the Directors’ Report, the Board of Directors has specified that the financial statements at 
31 December 2021 closed at break-even, because the operating costs were charged back to 
the segregated assets in accordance with the contractual agreements. 

The accounting entries for the year can be summarised in the following statement of financial 
position figures: 

ASSETS €  223,525 

LIABILITIES €  54,595 

QUOTA CAPITAL €  120,000 

RESERVES €  48,930 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY €  223,525 

This result is reflected in the income statement, which can be summarised as follows: 

REVENUE €  98,639 



COSTS € - 97,940

INCOME TAXES € -  699 

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR €  // 

The securitised financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the notes to the financial 
statements in accordance with the Bank of Italy instructions issued in compliance with the 
IAS/IFRS, with the vehicle’s own assets shown separately from the securitised assets. This 
treatment also complies with Law no. 130/99, according to which the loans and receivables 
related to individual securitisations are segregated assets, for all intents and purposes, with 
respect to those of the vehicle and those relating to other transactions. 

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board of Statutory Auditors performed the 
supervision required by law and, in particular, by article 149 of the aforementioned Legislative 
Decree no. 58/1998.   

The Board of Statutory Auditors reports and notes the following. 

a. Supervision of compliance with the law and the articles of association

We carried out the supervision of compliance with the law and the articles of association by: 
 holding 6 meetings, during which we carried out checks and assessments, necessary to 

perform the supervision required by the regulations; 
 attending the 7 Board of Directors’ meetings held during the year, through which we were 

able to obtain timely and appropriate information, in compliance with the provisions of 
article 2381, paragraph 5, of the Italian Civil Code, on the general business performance 
and outlook of operations, and on the most significant transactions, in terms of size or 
nature;  

 attending the Shareholders’ Meeting held during the year; 
 meeting and consulting with the Independent Auditors appointed to audit the accounts, 

to exchange the data and information needed to perform our respective duties. 

b. Compliance with the principles of proper management

For the aspects under our responsibility, we obtained information about and supervised 
compliance with the principles of proper management, through our attendance at the Board 
of Directors’ meetings and the timely information received on the transactions carried out by 
the vehicle.  
The information we obtained enabled us to determine that the actions approved and 
implemented complied with the law and the articles of association and that they were not 
manifestly imprudent or risky. 

c. Adequacy of the organisational structure

We monitored the proper allocation of the delegated powers and the adequacy of the vehicle’s 
organisational structure.  



The Board of Statutory Auditors has acknowledged the fact that the Board of Directors of ISP 
CB Pubblico S.r.l. has adopted the guidelines on the organisational structure approved by the 
Board of Directors of the Parent Company Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A..  

d. Supervision of outsourced activities

During the year, the vehicle was subject to the management and coordination of the Parent 
Company Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A..  
The Directors’ Report states that: 
 the vehicle does not have any employees and outsources all the functions necessary for

the management of its operations, including the internal control systems, to specifically
appointed third parties. Specifically, the vehicle has assigned the management of the loan
and securities portfolio acquired to the Servicer Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. in accordance with
the provisions of Law no. 130/1999; likewise, it has assigned the management of
administrative, accounting, tax and corporate obligations to Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.
(Administrative Services Provider).

 the vehicle has current accounts with Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A., which bear agreed interest
rates;

 the following costs for services provided by Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. through its
Administrative and Tax Department and Corporate Bodies and Corporate Affairs
Department, and through its Banca dei Territori Division, have been recognised: servicing
(€1,510,115); receivable account bank services (€12,000); administrative services
(€50,000); cash management services (€10,000); account bank services (€55,843); and
fees for EMIR settlement services (€500).

The notes to the financial statements provide information on the cash transactions and 
commitments with the Group Companies, and state that the vehicle has signed an 
administrative services agreement with Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A, which provides the vehicle 
administrative, accounting and corporate services (including book keeping, tax returns and 
corporate activities). 
The parties involved in the securitisation are the following:  
 Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A., which took over from Banca Infrastrutture Innovazione e Sviluppo

S.p.A. on 1 December 2012 and acts as servicer of the securitisation in accordance with
Law no. 130/99. Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. provides IT infrastructure, including via Intesa
Sanpaolo Group Services (now merged into Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.), and performs the back
office activities for collections on the securitised loans, as per the Group’s regulations.
As servicer, it is also responsible for ensuring that the transaction activities comply with
the law and the Prospectus, in accordance with article 2.6 of Law no. 130/99;

 Following enactment of the EMIR, which imposes specific disclosure obligations on parties
to OTC derivative contracts, in February 2014 Intesa Sanpaolo Group Services S.c.p.A.
(now merged into Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.) and Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. were engaged to
perform certain of these mandatory activities as representatives of the vehicle
(specifically, Intesa Sanpaolo Group Services S.c.p.A. – now merged into Intesa Sanpaolo
S.p.A. – is responsible for reconciling the portfolios and managing disputes, while Intesa
Sanpaolo S.p.A. is in charge of reporting);



 Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A., as servicer, also acts as account bank and cash manager, which
involves crediting the amounts collected on the accounts opened with it and managing
the funds while they are deposited in the current account before being used to make the
payments on the dates set by the vehicle. It receives a fee in line with market conditions
for these services;

 Deutsche Bank is the paying agent for the covered bonds issued;
 Banca Finint S.p.A. (which absorbed the subsidiaries Securitisation Services S.p.A. and

FISG S.r.l. by merger in 2020) has been selected for the roles of Representative of the
Holders of the Covered Bonds and Calculation Agent.

 Deutsche Bank Luxembourg S.A. is the Luxembourg listing agent;
 B.D.O. Italia is the asset monitor;
 Banca IMI S.p.A. (now merged into Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.) assisted Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.

in the structuring of the transaction as arranger for inaugural issuance.

e. Supervision of the adequacy of the internal control system

In performing its guidance, management and coordination activities, Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A., 
as the Parent Company, is required to fulfil the regulatory obligations imposed on it as a listed 
company or aimed at ensuring the Group’s stability. To this end, it has issued directives over 
time, in implementation of the instructions given by the Supervisory Authorities, that the 
subsidiaries are required to comply with.  
The Board of Statutory Auditors acknowledges in this regard that the Board of Directors of ISP 
CB Pubblico S.r.l. has adopted the Guidelines, Policies and Processes, and their updates, 
approved by the Parent Company Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.. 

f. Supervision of the adequacy of the administrative and accounting system

For the aspects under its responsibility, the Board of Statutory Auditors has assessed the 
reliability of the administrative and accounting system in correctly recording and presenting 
operational events, by obtaining information from the heads of the various departments and 
through meetings with the Independent Auditors. 
As already mentioned, the vehicle has no employees and the administrative, accounting, 
corporate and tax functions are assigned to Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.. 

g. Supervision of the independent audit of the accounts and the independence of the

auditors 

The Board of Statutory Auditors met and consulted periodically with the independent auditors 
EY S.p.A., which provided reports containing summaries of the periodic checks conducted to 
ensure that the company accounts are properly kept in accordance with Article 14, paragraph 
1, letter b) of Legislative Decree no. 39/2010.   
The Board of Statutory Auditors has monitored the independence of the Independent Auditors 
and has no remarks to make in this regard. 



h. Supervision of the financial statements and the directors’ report

The Board of Statutory Auditors is responsible for overseeing compliance with the law and the 
articles of association, without duplicating the work of the independent auditors, and is 
required to ensure compliance with the procedural rules for preparation, filing and publication. 
We have performed our duty of monitoring the general layout of the financial statements, 
which have been prepared in accordance with the legally-established formats and comply with 
the applicable regulations. 
In our opinion, the directors’ report is consistent with the information provided in the financial 
statements.  

i. Report of the Independent Auditors pursuant to article 156 and article 165 of Legislative
Decree no. 58 of 24/2/1998

On 14 March 2022, the Independent Auditors EY S.p.A. issued the “Report of the Independent 
Auditors in accordance with Article 14 of Legislative Decree no. 39 of 27 January 2010” in 
which: (i) it expressed an unqualified positive opinion on the financial statements at 31 
December 2021; (ii) it expressed a positive opinion on the consistency of the directors’ report 
with those financial statements and on the compliance of the Report with the legal 
requirements; and (iii) it stated – in the declaration issued in accordance with article 14, 
paragraph 2, letter e) of Legislative Decree no.39/2010, based on the knowledge and 
understanding of the company and its situation acquired during the course of the independent 
audit – that it had not identified any material errors.  

l. Going concern
The Board of Statutory Auditors notes that the financial statements at 31 December 2021 have
been prepared on a going concern basis.
In the directors’ report, the directors stated that – despite the high degree of instability related
to the COVID-19 pandemic and its future evolution – they had a reasonable expectation that
the vehicle’s operations will continue in a stable manner, also considering that its viability is
guaranteed by the chargeback of costs to the segregated assets.  The 2021 financial
statements have therefore been prepared on a going concern basis. The directors also
reported that the segregated assets were not particularly affected by the pandemic crisis in
view of (i) the nature of the securitised assets, consisting of loans and securities with
government entities and (ii) the presence of hedging in the form of asset swaps on the
segregated assets.
In their Report of 14 March 2022, the Independent Auditors EY S.p.A. confirmed (i) that they
had reached the conclusion that the Directors’ use of the going concern assumption was
appropriate and (ii) that they had not identified any significant uncertainties regarding the
vehicle’s ability to continue operating as a going concern.

m. Specific information provided according the format set out in CONSOB Communication no.
1025564 of 6 April 2001
Below is the specific information provided according to the format set out in the
abovementioned CONSOB Communication no. 1025564.



m.1. Most significant financial transactions 
The financial statements and the directors’ report provide a detailed description of the 
transactions carried out by the vehicle. The Board of Statutory Auditors has acquired sufficient 
information on these transactions to determine their compliance with the law, the articles of 
association and the principles of proper management. None of these transactions have any 
features that warrant any specific observations or remarks. 

m.2. Atypical and/or unusual transactions, including intragroup transactions or related-party 
transactions 
m.2.1. Atypical and/or unusual related-party transactions: 
Nothing to report. 

m.2.2. Atypical and/or unusual third-party or intragroup transactions: 
Nothing to report. 

m.2.3 Intragroup transactions and related-party transactions: 
See the information already provided by the Board of Statutory Auditors in point d. above. 

m.3. Adequacy of the information provided, in the directors’ report, on atypical and/or unusual 
transactions, including intragroup or related-party transactions 
This information is sufficient in the directors’ report and in the notes to the financial 
statements. 

m.4. Comments and proposals on the remarks and emphases of matters in the Independent 
Auditors’ report 
The Board of Statutory Auditors has no comments or proposals to make regarding the content 
of the audit report issued by the Independent Auditors EY S.p.A. on 14 March 2022.  

m.5. Complaints pursuant to article 2408 of the Italian Civil Code 
The Board of Statutory Auditors did not receive any complaints pursuant to article 2408 of the 
Italian Civil Code  

m.6. Any claims submitted 
No claims were submitted. 

m.7. Award of additional assignments to the independent auditors 
Details are provided below of the assignments awarded to EY S.p.A. with the amount of the 
agreed fees reported in the notes to the financial statements:  

Service Service provider Fees 
Audit EY S.p.A.  30,395 
Other non-audit services EY S.p.A.  4,578 

The Board of Statutory Auditors has monitored the independence of the Independent Auditors 
and has no remarks to make in this regard. 



m.8. Award of additional assignments to entities connected to the Independent Auditors 
No additional assignments have been awarded to entities connected to the Independent 
Auditors EY S.p.A.. 

m.9. Opinions issued pursuant to law by the Independent Auditors 
None. 

m.10. Frequency and number of meetings of the Board of Directors, the Executive Committee 
and the Board of Statutory Auditors 
See the information already provided by the Board of Statutory Auditors in point a. above. 

m.11. Comments on compliance with the principles of correct management 
See the information already provided by the Board of Statutory Auditors in point b. above. 

m.12. Observations on the adequacy of the organisational structure 
See the information already provided by the Board of Statutory Auditors in point c. above. 

m.13. Adequacy of the internal control system   
See the information already provided by the Board of Statutory Auditors in point e. above. 

m.14. Observations on the adequacy of the administrative and accounting system and its 
reliability in correctly representing the affairs of the company 
See the information already provided by the Board of Statutory Auditors in point f. above. 

m.15. Adequacy of the instructions given by the Company to the subsidiaries pursuant to 
article 114, paragraph 2, of Legislative Decree no. 58/1998 
ISP CB Pubblico S.r.l. does not have any subsidiaries. 

m.16. Any significant matters related to the meetings held with the Independent Auditors 
pursuant to article 150, paragraph 2, of Legislative Decree no. 58/1998 
No significant aspects to be reported emerged from the meetings held by the Board of 
Statutory Auditors with the Independent Auditors to exchange information pursuant to article 
150, paragraph 2, of Legislative Decree 58/1998. 

m.17. Adoption of the Corporate Governance Code for listed companies 
The Parent Company Intesa Sanpaolo has adopted the Corporate Governance Code for listed 
companies, issued by Borsa Italiana S.p.A., as last updated in July 2018 for the annual periods 
ending up to 31 December 2020, available on the Corporate Governance Committee website 
(on page www.borsaitaliana.it/comitato-corporate-governance/homepage/homepage.htm).   
On 2 March 2021, the Board of Directors of the Parent Company approved the annual report 
on Corporate Governance and Ownership Structures, the text of which is available on the 
company’s website group.intesasanpaolo.com in the “Governance” section and in the eMarket 
Storage authorised storage mechanism.  



m.18. Concluding remarks on the supervision carried out 
During the supervision carried out, as described above, no significant facts emerged that 
required reporting to the Supervisory Authorities or mention in this report. 

m.19. Board of Statutory Auditors’ Proposals to the Shareholders’ Meeting 
In view of the above, the Board of Statutory Auditors, for the aspects under its responsibility, 
has not identified any reasons preventing the approval of the Financial Statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2021.  

Milan, 14 March 2022 

The Board of Statutory Auditors 

signed by Nicola Bruni (Chairperson) 
signed by Elena Fornara (Standing Statutory Auditor) 
signed by Giuseppe Dalla Costa (Standing Statutory Auditor) 
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Independent auditor’s report  
pursuant to article 14 of Legislative Decree n. 39, dated 27 January 
2010  
(Translation from the original Italian text) 

To the Quotaholders of 
ISP CB Pubblico S.r.l. 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of ISP CB Pubblico S.r.l. (the Company), which comprise the 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, the statement of income, statement of 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
Company as at 31 December 2021 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the 
European Union. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. 

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the regulations and standards on ethics and 
independence applicable to audits of financial statements under Italian Laws. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Emphasis of Matter 

We draw attention to “Part A – Accounting policies” of the notes to the financial statements where the 
Directors state that the Company has the sole purpose of acquiring loans and securities funded in 
accordance with Law n. 130 of 30 April 1999, in connection with covered bonds transactions. As 
described by the Directors, the Company has recorded the acquired receivables, the securities 
purchased and the other transactions connected with the covered bonds in the notes to the financial 
statements consistently with the provisions of Law n. 130 of 30 April 1999 according to which the 
receivables and securities involved in each covered bond transaction are, to all effects, separated 
from the net assets of the Company and from those related to other transactions. Our opinion is not 
qualified in respect of this matter. 
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Other matters 

As required by the law, the notes to the financial statements include the condensed financial 
information of the entity that exercises management and coordination over the Company. Such 
financial information has not been audited by us. 

Responsibilities of the Directors and of the Board of Statutory Auditors for the 
Financial Statements 

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair 
view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European 
Union, and, within the terms provided by the law, for such internal control as they determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

The Directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and, 
when preparing the financial statements, for the appropriateness of the going concern assumption, 
and for appropriate disclosure thereof. The Directors prepare the financial statements on a going 
concern basis unless they either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 

The Board of Statutory Auditors (Collegio Sindacale) is responsible, within the terms provided by the 
law, for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia) will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia), we have 
exercised professional judgment and maintained professional skepticism throughout the audit. In 
addition: 

• we have identified and assessed the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, designed and performed audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtained audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;

• we have obtained an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control;

• we have evaluated the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Directors;
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• we have concluded on the appropriateness of Directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s  ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to consider this matter in forming our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going
concern;

• we have evaluated the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We have communicated with those charged with governance, identified at an appropriate level as 
required by ISA Italia, regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit.  

Report on Compliance with Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

Opinion pursuant to article 14, paragraph 2, subparagraph e), of Legislative 
Decree n. 39, dated 27 January 2010 

The Directors of ISP CB Pubblico S.r.l. are responsible for the preparation of the Report on Operations 
of ISP CB Pubblico S.r.l. as at 31 December 2021, including its consistency with the related financial 
statements and its compliance with the applicable laws and regulations.  

We have performed the procedures required under audit standard SA Italia n. 720B, in order to 
express an opinion on the consistency of the Report on Operations, with the financial statements of 
ISP CB Pubblico S.r.l. as at 31 December 2021 and on its compliance with the applicable laws and 
regulations, and in order to assess whether it contains material misstatements. 

In our opinion, the Report on Operations is consistent with the financial statements of ISP CB Pubblico 
S.r.l. as at 31 December 2021 and complies with the applicable laws and regulations.

With reference to the statement required by art. 14, paragraph 2, subparagraph e), of Legislative 
Decree n. 39, dated 27 January 2010, based on our knowledge and understanding of the entity and 
its environment obtained through our audit, we have no matters to report. 

Milan, 14 March 2022 

EY S.p.A. 
Signed by: Giovanni Pesce, Auditor 

This report has been translated into the English language solely for the convenience of international 
readers. Accordingly, only the original text in Italian language is authoritative. 
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Statement of financial position 
 

 
 

on behalf of the BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
Chairperson 

Paola Fandella 

Assets 31/12/2021 31/12/2020

10. Cash and cash equivalents 218,208 177,219

100. Tax assets: 1,450 1,510
   a) current 1,450 1,510

120. Other assets 3,867 46,496

TOTAL ASSETS 223,525 225,225
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Statement of financial position 
 

 
 

 
on behalf of the BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Chairperson 
Paola Fandella 

 
  

Liabilities and equity 31/12/2021 31/12/2020

60. Tax liabilities: - 6
   a) current - 6

80. Other liabilities 54,595 56,289
  

110. Quota capital 120,000 120,000

150. Reserves 48,930 48,930

170. Net income (loss) - - 
        

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 223,525 225,225
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Statement of income 
 

 
 
 
on behalf of the BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Chairperson 
Paola Fandella 

  

(amounts in Euros)

Statement of income items 2021 2020

160. Administrative expenses: -97,940 -122,580
   a) personnel expenses -40,530 -40,139
   b) other administrative expenses -57,410 -82,441

200. Other operating expenses/income 98,639 123,412

210. OPERATING EXPENSES 699 832

260. INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 699 832

270. Taxes on income from continuing operations -699 -832

280. INCOME (LOSS) AFTER TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS - - 

300. NET INCOME (LOSS) - - 
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Statement of comprehensive income  
 

 
 
 
on behalf of the BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Chairperson 
Paola Fandella 

 

   2021 2020

10. Net income (loss) -                         -                         

Other comprehensive income, net of tax, that w ill not be
reclassified to the statement of income

20. Equity instruments at FVOCI -                         -                         

30. Financial liabilities at FVTPL (change in credit rating) -                         -                         

40. Hedges of equity instruments at FVOCI -                         -                         

50. Property and equipment -                         -                         

60. Intangible assets -                         -                         

70. Defined benefit plans -                         -                         

80. Non-current assets held for sale and disposal groups -                         -                         

90. Share of valuation reserves connected w ith investments carried at equity

Other comprehensive income, net of tax, that w ill be
reclassified to the statement of income

100. Hedges of foreign investments -                         -                         

110. Foreign exchange differences -                         -                         

120. Cash f low  hedges -                         -                         

130. Hedging instruments (elements not designated) -                         -                         

140. Financial assets (other than equity instruments) at FVOCI -                         -                         

150. Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations -                         -                         

160. Share of valuation reserves connected w ith investments carried at equity -                         -                         

170. Total other comprehensive income -                         -                         

180. Comprehensive income (captions 10+170) -                         -                         
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Statement of changes in equity 
 
 
31 December 2021 
 

 
 
 
31 December 2020 
 

 
 

on behalf of the BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
Chairperson 

Paola Fandella 

(amounts in Euros)

AMOUNT AT 1/1/2021 120,000 - - 48,930 - - - - - - 168,930

- 
  Reserves - - - - - - - - - - - 
  Dividends and other distributions - - - - - - - - - - 

CHANGES IN THE PERIOD - - 
  Changes in reserves - - - - - - - - - - - 
  Equity transactions - 
     Issue of new quotas - - - - - - - - - - 
     Other changes - - - - - - - - - - - 
Comprehensive income - - - - - - - - - - 

EQUITY AT 31/12/2021 120,000 - - 48,930 - - - - - - 168,930

ALLOCATION OF NET INCOME OF THE 
PREVIOUS YEAR

Treasury 
quotas

Net income 
(loss)

Equity
ordinary 
quotas

savings 
quotas

income-
related

other

Quota capital

Quota 
premium 

Reserves

Valuation 
reserves

Equity 
instruments

(amounts in Euros)

AMOUNT AT 1/1/2020 120,000 - - 48,930 - - - - - 168,930

- 

  Reserves - - - - - - - - - - 

  Dividends and other distributions - - - - - - - - - - 

CHANGES IN THE PERIOD

  Changes in reserves - - - - - - - - - - 

  Equity transactions
     Issue of new quotas - - - - - - - - - - 
     Other changes - - - - - - - - - - 

  Comprehensive income - - - - - - - - - - 

EQUITY AT 31/12/2020 120,000 - - 48,930 - - - - - 168,930

ALLOCATION OF NET INCOME OF THE 
PREVIOUS YEAR

Equity 
instruments

Treasury 
quotas

Net income 
(loss)

Equity

ordinary quotas
savings 
quotas

income-related other

Quota capital

Quota 
premium 

Reserves

Valuation 
reserves
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Statement of cash flows  
 

 

 

 

on behalf of the BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
Chairperson 

                                                                                                 Paola Fandella  

2021 2020

A. OPERATING ACTIVITIES

1. Operations 40,989 8,136

- interest income collected (+) - 
- interest expense paid (-) - - 
- dividends and similar income (+) - - 
- net fee and commission income (expense) (+) - - 
- personnel expenses (-) -39,675 -38,501
- other expenses (-) -62,312 -89,593
- other revenue (+) 143,621 137,220
- taxes and duties (-) -645 -990
- expenses/revenue related to disposal groups net of the tax effect (+/-) - - 

2. Cash flows generated by/used for financial assets - - 

- financial assets held for trading - - 
- financial assets at fair value - - 
- financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value - - 
- financial assets at FVOCI - - 
- financial assets at amortised cost - - 
- other assets - - 

3. Cash flows generated by/used for financial liabilities - - 

- financial liabilities at amortised cost - - 
- financial liabilities held for trading - - 
- financial liabilities at fair value - - 
- other liabilities - - 

Net cash flows generated by/used in operating activities 40,989 8,136

B. INVESTING ACTIVITIES

1. Cash flows generated by: - - 

- sales of equity investments - - 
- dividends from equity investments - - 
- sales of property and equipment - - 
- sales of intangible assets - - 
- sales of business units - - 

2. Cash flows used to acquire: - - 

- equity investments - - 
- property, equipment and investment property - - 
- intangible assets - - 
- business units - - 

Net cash flows generated by/used in investing activities - - 

C. FINANCING ACTIVITIES

- issue/repurchase of treasury quotas - - 
- issue/purchase of equity instruments - - 
- dividends and other distributions - - 

Net cash flows generated by/used in financing activities - - 

NET CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR 40,989 8,136

RECONCILIATION

Opening cash and cash equivalents 177,219 169,083

Net cash flows for the year 40,989 8,136

Closing cash and cash equivalents 218,208 177,219
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Notes to the financial statements  
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PART A - ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 
 
A.1 - GENERAL PART 
 
SECTION 1 - Statement of compliance with the IAS/IF RS 
 

In compliance with Legislative Decree no. 38 of 28 February 2005, the vehicle has prepared its financial 
statements in accordance with the International Accounting Standards (IAS) and the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) applicable at 31 December 2021 issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB) and the related interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 
(IFRIC), endorsed by the European Commission and in force at the reporting date, in accordance with 
Regulation (EC) No. 1606 of 19 July 2002. 
 
The table below lists the new international accounting standards or amendments to the accounting standards 
already in force, together with the related endorsement regulations by the European Commission, which came 
into force in 2021. 
 
International accounting standards endorsed as at 31.12.2021 and effective from 2021 
 

Document name 

IASB document 

publication 

date 

Effective date 

Date of 

publication in the 

OJEU 

EU Regulation 

and date of issue 

Amendments to IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts - Extension of 

the Temporary Exemption from Applying IFRS 9  
June 2020 

01/01/2021 

First annual period 

beginning on or after 

01/01/2021 

16/12/2020 
(EU) 2020/2097 

15/12/2020 

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 – Amendments 

to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 
August 2020 

01/01/2021 

First annual period 

beginning on or after 

01/01/2021 

14/01/2021 
(EU) 2021/25 

13/01/2021 

Amendment to IFRS 16 Leases - Covid-19-Related Rent 

Concessions after 30 June 2021  
March 2021 

01/04/2021 

First annual period 

beginning on or after 

01/01/2021 

31/08/2021 
(EU) 2021/1421 

30/08/2021 

          

 
The changes introduced by the IAS/IFRS have not had any effect on the vehicle’s statement of financial 
position and statement of income figures.   
 
The table below lists the new international accounting standards or the amendments to the accounting 
standards already in force, with the related endorsement Regulations by the European Commission, which will 
become mandatory on 1 January 2022 – for financial statements reflecting the calendar year – or after that 
date. 
 
International accounting standards endorsed as at 31.12.2021 and applicable after 31.12.2021 
 

Document name 

IASB document 

publication 

date 

Effective date 

Date of 

publication in the 

OJEU 

EU Regulation 

and date of issue 

Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment, IAS 

37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, 

IAS 41 Agriculture, IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of 

International Reporting Standards, IFRS 3 Business 

Combinations, and IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

May 2020 

01/01/2022 

First annual period 

beginning on or after 

01/01/2022 

02/07/2021 
(EU) 2021/1080 

28/06/2021 

IFRS 17 Insurance contracts  May 2017  

01/01/2023 

First annual period 

beginning on or after 

01/01/2023 

23/11/2021 
(EU) 2021/2036 

19/11/2021 

Amendments to IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts June 2020 

First annual period 

beginning on or after 

01/01/2023 

23/11/2021 
(EU) 2021/2036 

19/11/2021 
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SECTION 2 - Basis of preparation 

The Company has the sole purpose of acquiring loans and securities funded in accordance with Law n. 130 
of 30 April 1999, in connection with covered bonds transactions. The Company has recorded the acquired 
receivables, the securities purchased and the other transactions connected with the covered bonds in the 
notes to the financial statements consistently with the provisions of Law n. 130 of 30 April 1999 according to 
which the receivables and securities involved in each covered bond transaction are, to all effect, separated 
from the net assets of the Company and from those related to other transactions. 
For purpose of full disclosure, we note that the IAS/IFRS accounting treatment to be applied to financial assets 
and/or groups of financial assets and financial liabilities arising from “covered bank bond issues” is still subject 
to further examination by the bodies responsible for interpreting the accounting standards. 
The financial statements are prepared with the application of the general principles set out by IAS 1 and the 
specific financial reporting standards endorsed by the European Commission and described in Part A.2 of 
these Notes to the financial statements, as well as in compliance with the general assumptions set forth by the 
Conceptual Framework for the preparation and presentation of Financial Statements issued by the IASB.  
No departures from the IAS/IFRS have been made.  
Pursuant to the provisions of Legislative Decree no. 38 of 28 February 2005, the vehicle has opted to prepare 
its financial statements in accordance with the IAS/IFRS, as it is included in the consolidation scope of Intesa 
Sanpaolo S.p.A.. 
The financial statements comprise a statement of financial position, a statement of income, a statement of 
comprehensive income, a statement of changes in equity, a statement of cash flows, and these notes to the 
financial statements. They are accompanied by a report on operations which comments on the vehicle’s 
performance, results, financial position and cash flows for the year. 
As required by the current regulations, the vehicle has prepared the financial statements using the Euro as its 
functional currency. 
The amounts in the financial statements, these notes and the report on operations are presented in Euros. 
The financial statements and the tables in the notes include the corresponding figures at 31 December 2020.  
To give priority to substance over form, and in view of the fact that IAS 1 does not establish rigid formats, the 
layouts that apply to financial intermediaries have been used in these financial statements, in accordance with 
the guidance provided in the update of the document “The IFRS financial statements of intermediaries other 
than banking intermediaries” issued by the Bank of Italy on 29 October 2021. With the aforementioned update, 
effective for financial statements ending or in progress as at 31 December 2021, the Supervisory Authority has 
aligned the financial statement disclosures with the consolidated supervisory reporting harmonised at 
European level and has incorporated, in addition to the indications provided by previous communications, the 
changes introduced by the amendments to IFRS 7 concerning the disclosure of financial instruments.  
With regard to the vehicle’s operations, this entails, in particular, the reclassification of the on-demand current 
accounts held by the vehicle with Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. from caption 40 “Financial assets measured at 
amortised cost” to caption 10 “Cash and cash equivalents”. For consistency of presentation, the figures at 31 
December 2020 have also been reclassified accordingly. 
 
The financial statements are prepared with the intention of presenting a true and fair view of the assets and 
liabilities, financial position, results of operations and cash flows, according to the following basis of 
presentation: 

- Going concern (IAS 1 paragraphs 25 and 26): in preparing the financial statements, the Board of 
Directors made an assessment of the existence of the conditions relating to the vehicle’s ability to 
operate as a going concern over a period of at least twelve months after the reporting date. In making 
this assessment, all available information was taken into account, as well as the specific activity 
conducted by the vehicle, whose exclusive purpose, in accordance with Law No. 130 of 30 April 1999, 
is to carry out one or more transactions involving the issuance of covered bonds. Therefore, the Board 
of Directors – despite the current situation of instability – has a reasonable expectation that the 
vehicle’s operations will continue in a stable manner, also considering that its viability is guaranteed 
by the chargeback of costs to the segregated assets. Accordingly, the financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2021 have been prepared on a going concern basis as there are no events or 
conditions that could cast doubt on the vehicle’s ability to continue as a going concern. The 
management of the segregated assets was also not particularly affected by the pandemic crisis, given 
the nature of the securitised assets, consisting of loans and securities with government entities, and 
the presence of hedging in the form of asset swaps on the segregated assets;  

- Accrual basis of accounting (IAS 1 paragraphs 27 and 28): except for the cash flow reporting, the 
financial statements are prepared on the basis of accrual of costs and revenues, irrespective of the 
time of their monetary settlement and according to the matching principle; 

- Consistency of presentation (IAS 1 paragraph 29): the criteria for the presentation and classification 
of items in the financial statements are retained from one year to the next in order to ensure the 
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comparability of information, unless otherwise required by an international accounting standard or an 
interpretation, or the need arises, in terms of significance, for a more appropriate presentation of the 
information. Where feasible, the change is adopted retrospectively and the nature, reason and amount 
of the items affected by the change is disclosed; 

- Aggregation and materiality (IAS 1 paragraph 29): all significant aggregations of items with a similar 
nature or function are presented separately. Items of a dissimilar nature or function, if material, are 
presented separately; 

- Offsetting (IAS 1 paragraph 32): assets and liabilities and costs and revenues cannot be offset against 
each other, unless specifically required or permitted by the international accounting standards or by 
an interpretation of those standards or by the instructions issued by the Bank of Italy; 

- Comparative information: except when otherwise permitted or required by an international accounting 
standard or interpretation, comparative information is presented in respect of the preceding year for 
all the amounts recorded in the current year’s financial statements. The update of the Bank of Italy 
Order of 29 October 2021 on the IFRS financial statements of intermediaries other than banking 
intermediaries, effective for financial statements ended or in progress as at 31 December 2021, 
required the reclassification of on-demand current accounts from caption 40 “Financial assets 
measured at amortised cost” to caption 10 “Cash and cash equivalents”. For consistency of 
presentation, the figures at 31 December 2020 have also been reclassified accordingly. 

 
The accounting policies applied to prepare these financial statements are consistent with those used for the 
2020 financial statements. 
 
SECTION 3 - Events after the reporting date 

After the reporting date, a military conflict broke out between Russia and Ukraine, which constitutes an event 
that does not require any adjustments in relation to the year 2021.  
The preliminary analyses carried out did not identify anything in particular that could significantly affect the 
future financial position, operating performance and cash flows of the vehicle, which does not have any 
exposures to counterparties resident in the above-mentioned countries, or the operation of the Programme, 
which will be carefully monitored over the course of the year, given that it is currently impossible to make any 
detailed forecasts regarding all the possible effects connected to the constantly evolving situation.  
 
SECTION 4 - Other aspects  

The Company’s financial statements are audited by EY S.p.A. 
 
In accordance with the provisions of article 2497 bis of the Italian Civil Code, we specify that the vehicle is 
subject to management and coordination by the parent company Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.  
 
As duly approved by the Board of Directors on 25 September 2018, the vehicle subscribed to the Intesa 
Sanpaolo VAT Group on 24 October 2018, by selecting the declaration option provided in the specific website 
set up by the Italian Revenue Agency. As a result, with effect from 1 January 2019, the vehicle suspended its 
VAT number and adopted the VAT number 11991500015 of the Intesa Sanpaolo VAT Group, accepting the 
“Group VAT Rules”. 
 
Risks, uncertainties and impacts of the COVID-19 epidemic 
 
With regard to the vehicle’s operations, the adverse effects of the economic and financial crisis resulting from 
the COVID-19 pandemic and the continued macroeconomic uncertainty has not had any impact on the 
management of the vehicle. 
Also with regard to the segregated assets, due to the type of assets securitised (loans and securities to 
government entities), there were no increases in adjustments to loans during the year and there were no effects 
on the performance of operations. In this regard, you are reminded that the individual and collective valuations 
of the securitised assets, as well as their classification, are provided by Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A., the originator 
and servicer of the outstanding securitisation. 
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A.2 - DISCLOSURE ON MAIN CAPTIONS 

This section sets out the accounting policies adopted in preparing the financial statements at 31 December 
2021, solely for the statement of financial position and statement of income captions presented in the financial 
statements. The recognition, measurement and derecognition criteria are given for each asset and liability 
caption. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
This caption includes on-demand receivables from banks represented by current accounts held with the parent 
company Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A..  

Other assets 
This caption comprises all the loans and receivables captions not attributable to other financial statement 
captions and mainly relates to the vehicle’s receivables due from the segregated assets for the reimbursement 
of company expenses. Those captions are stated at nominal value, which corresponds to their estimated 
realisable value. 

Other liabilities  
Financial and other liabilities are recognised at fair value, increased by any transaction costs/income. 
They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
Current liabilities and other liabilities are an exception when the time value of money is negligible. They are 
maintained at their original amount and any related costs are taken to profit or loss on a straight line basis over 
the contractual term of the liability. 
Financial and other liabilities are derecognised when they are settled. 
The other liabilities recognised in these financial statements are all current and, moreover, relate to the 
vehicle’s normal operations. 

Tax assets and liabilities  
Current and deferred taxes are recognised using ruling rates. 
Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss.  
They are calculated using a prudent estimate of the current tax expense, deferred tax assets and liabilities. 
Specifically, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined on temporary differences (without time limits) 
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases. 
Deferred tax assets are only recognised when their recovery is certain, depending on the vehicle’s ability to 
continuously generate taxable profit.  
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in the statement of financial position without offsetting as Tax 
assets and Tax liabilities, respectively.  
There were no deferred tax assets or liabilities at the reporting date. 

Recognition of costs and revenue  
Costs and revenue are recognised on an accrual basis.  
In view of the exclusive nature of the operations carried out by the vehicle, the operating costs are charged to 
the segregated assets, up to the amount necessary to ensure the vehicle’s financial stability, as also provided 
for by the Intercreditor Agreement and reported in the Prospectus for each securitisation carried out. This 
amount is classified under “Other operating expenses/income” and is the main revenue caption in the vehicle’s 
financial statements. 
 
Other information 
The vehicle does not hold and has never held treasury quotas. 
The vehicle does not hold and has never held quotas or shares of its parents. 
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A.3 – DISCLOSURE ON TRANSFERS BETWEEN FINANCIAL ASS ET PORTFOLIOS 
 
In accordance with the disclosure required by IFRS 7, we note that no financial assets were reclassified 
between the various portfolios. 
 
 
A.4 - DISCLOSURE ON FAIR VALUE 
 
Following the reclassification of on-demand receivables from banks from caption 40 “Financial assets 
measured at amortised cost” to caption 10 “Cash and cash equivalents”, as required by the update of the 
accounting rules for the IFRS financial statements of intermediaries other than banking intermediaries, table 
A.4.5.4 “Assets and liabilities not measured at fair value or measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis: 
breakdown by fair value level” is no longer presented.  
 
 
A.5 – INFORMATION ON DAY ONE PROFIT/LOSS 
 
There is no information to be provided on the day one profit/loss, because the vehicle did not use any financial 
instruments during 2021 in its ordinary operations. 
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The information relating to Part B, Part C and Part D of the Notes to the Financial Statements is provided 
below. It does not include information regarding circumstances that do not concern the financial statements or 
tables relating to accounting captions that are not present. 
 
 
 
PART B - NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITI ON 
 
 
ASSETS 
 
Section 1 - Cash and cash equivalents - Caption 10 
 

 
 
On-demand receivables from banks, consisting of current accounts held with Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A., and 
previously recorded under caption 40 “Financial assets measured at amortised cost”, have been reclassified 
to this caption following the update of the accounting rules for the IFRS financial statements of intermediaries 
other than banking intermediaries.  
The figures as at 31 December 2020 have consequently been reclassified for the purpose of comparability. 
 
 
Section 10 - Tax assets and liabilities - Asset cap tion 100 and liability caption 60 
 
 
10.1 Breakdown of Caption 100 “Tax assets: current and deferred” 
 

 
 
10.2 Breakdown of Caption 60 “Tax liabilities: curr ent and deferred”  
 

 
 
Section 12 - Other assets - Caption 120  
 
12.1 Breakdown of Caption 120 “Other assets” 
 

 

   31/12/2021 31/12/2020

- Current accounts and on-demand deposits with banks 218,208 177,219

Total 218,208 177,219

Current tax assets: breakdown 31/12/2021 31/12/2020

IRES payments on account and assets 1,431 1,510

IRAP payments on account and assets 19 - 

Total 1,450 1,510

Current and deferred tax liabilities: breakdown 31/1 2/2021 31/12/2020

- Current taxes - 6

  IRAP liabilities - 6

Total - 6

   31/12/2021 31/12/2020

- Amounts due from segregated assets - 42,053
- Tax credits for withholdings to be offset 3,867 4,443

Total 3,867 46,496
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LIABILITIES 
 
Section 6 - Tax liabilities - Caption 60 
 
Reference should be made to section 10 of the Assets for information about tax liabilities. 
 
Section 8 - Other liabilities - Caption 80 
 
8.1 Breakdown of Caption 80 “Other liabilities” 
 

 
 

Section 11 - Equity - Captions 110 and 150 
 
11.1 Breakdown of Caption 110 “Quota capital”  
 

 
 
The Quota Capital, subscribed and paid in for a total of €120,000, is divided into quotas and is held as follows: 

• Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. holds a nominal amount of €72,000, equal to 60% of the Quota Capital; 
• Stichting Viridis 2, with registered office in Amsterdam in the Netherlands, holds a nominal amount of 

€48,000, equal to 40% of the Quota Capital.  
 
11.5 Other information - Breakdown of and changes i n caption 150 “Reserves” 
 

 
  

   31/12/2021 31/12/2020
Payables for statutory auditors’ fees 12,180 12,173
Due to suppliers and beneficiaries 38,571 43,470
IRPEF tax payables for self-employed workers 780 576
Accrued expense - 70
Amounts due to segregated assets 2,990 - 
Due to INAIL (accident at work insurance) 74 - 

Total 54,595 56,289

    31/12/2021 31/12/2020
1.   Quota capital
       1.1 Ordinary quotas - - 
       1.2 Quotas 120,000 120,000

Total 120,000 120,000

Legal 
reserve

Losses carried 
forward

Other 
extraordinary 

reserve
Total 

A. Opening balance 01/01/2021 2,448 - 46,482 48,930

B. Increases

B.1 Allocation of profits - - 
B.2 Other increases - - - - 

C.  Decreases

C.1 Utilisation - - - - 
          - to cover losses - - - - 
          - for dividend distribution - - - - 

          - for conversion into capital - - - - 

C.2 Other decreases - - - - 

D. Closing balance 31/12/2021 2,448 - 46,482 48,930
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Other information 
 
1. Commitments and financial guarantees given  
 
There are no commitments and financial guarantees given. 
 
2. Other commitments and other guarantees given 
 
There are no other commitments and guarantees given. 
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Part C - NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF INCOME  
 
 

Section 10 - Administrative expenses - Caption 160   
 
 
10.1 Caption 160.a “Personnel expenses”  
 

 
 

10.2 Average number of employees by category   
 
The vehicle does not have any employees. 
 
 

10.3 Caption 160.b “Other administrative expenses”   
 

   2021 2020

Consultancy 7,193                        6,877

Audit fees 48,268                      72,496

Notary fees 1,307                        2,001

Other taxes and duties 528                            512

Reimbursement of expenses incurred by company bodies -                             452

Other 114                            103

Total 57,410 82,441  
 

   2021 2020

1.   Employees - - 

  a) wages and salaries - - 

  b) social security charges - - 

  c) termination indemnities - - 

  d) social security expenses - - 

  e) accrual for post-employment benefits - - 

   f) provision for post employment benefits - - 
         - defined contribution plans - - 

         - defined benefit plans - - 

   g) payments to external supplementary pension funds:

         - defined contribution plans - - 

         - defined benefit plans - - 

   h) other benefits - - 

2.   Other personnel - - 

3.   Directors and statutory auditors 40,530 40,139

4.   Retired personnel - - 

5.   Cost recoveries for personnel seconded to other companies - - 

6.   Cost reimbursements for personnel seconded to the vehicle - - 

Total 40,530 40,139
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Section 14 - Other operating expenses/income - Capt ion 200 
 

14.2 Breakdown of Caption 200 “Other operating expe nses/income” 
 

 
 

The income reported above relates entirely to the chargeback to the segregated assets of all the operating 
costs incurred, which are charged to the segregated assets, up to the amount necessary to ensure the vehicle’s 
financial stability, as also provided for by the Intercreditor Agreement and reported in the Prospectus for each 
securitisation carried out.  
 
 
 
  

   2021 2020
   
Contractually provided-for income 98,639 123,412

Total 98,639 123,412
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Section 19 - Taxes on income from continuing operat ions - Caption 270  
 
 

19.1 Breakdown of Caption 270 “Taxes on income from  continuing operations”  
 

 
 
Current taxes for the year consist of €79 for IRES (income tax) and €620 for IRAP (business tax). 
 
 
19.2 Reconciliation of theoretical tax charge to to tal income tax expense for the period 
 

 

   2021 2020

1.  Current taxes (-) 699 832

2. Change in current taxes from previous years (+/-) - - 

3. Decrease in current taxes for the year (+) - - 

 3. bis Decrease in current taxes for the year due to tax assets as per Law no. 
214/2011 (+) 

- - 

4. Change in deferred tax assets (+/-) - - 

5. Change in deferred tax liabilities (+/-) - - 

6. Taxes on income from continuing operations (-) ( -1+/-2+3+ 3 bis+/-4+/-5) 699 832

2021 2020

Taxes on income from continuing operations  699 832

Theoretical taxable profit 699 832

Income taxes Income taxes

Income taxes - theoretical IRES tax expense 168 200

Increases - 82

 Non-deductible expenses (contingent liabilities, directors’ fees, contractors IRAP, 
etc.) - 82

Decreases -89 -89

 Other (taxable base reduction as per Article 11 of Legislative Decree 446/1997, 
ACE subsidy, etc.) -89 -89

Total changes -89 -7

Total 79 193

IRAP 620 639

Theoretical tax expense (IRES + IRAP) 699 832
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Part D - OTHER DISCLOSURES  
 
Section 1 - Operations 
 
D. GUARANTEES AND COMMITMENTS 
 
At the reporting date, the vehicle has not given guarantees to third parties nor does it have commitments other 
than those specifically provided for and regulated by the contracts for the covered bond transactions and the 
segregated assets. 
 

 
 
This table shows all the securitised assets related to the segregated assets which all guarantee the Covered 
Bond Programme of Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.. 
 

Transactions 31/12/2021 31/12/2020

1.    First demand financial guarantees issued
        a) Banks -                                                 -                                           
        b) Financial institutions -                                                 -                                           
        c) Customers -                                                 -                                           
2.    Other financial guarantees issued
        a) Banks - - 
        b) Financial institutions - - 
        c) Customers - - 
3.    Commercial guarantees issued
        a) Banks - - 
        b) Financial institutions - - 
        c) Customers - - 
4.   Irrevocable loan commitments
        a) Banks
             i) certain use - - 
             ii) uncertain use - - 
        b) Financial institutions
             i) certain use - - 
             ii) uncertain use - - 
        c) Customers
             i) certain use - - 
             ii) uncertain use - - 
5.   Commitments underlying credit derivatives: protection sales - - 
6.   Assets pledged as collateral for third-party commitments - - 
7.   Other irrevocable commitments - - 
             a) to issue guarantees - - 
             b) other 4,665,146,226                        5,146,231,307

Total 4,665,146,226 5,146,231,307
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H. COVERED BONDS 
 
Basis of preparation and accounting policies used t o prepare the Summary of the securitised assets  
 
The principles followed in the preparation of the Prospectus are those set out in the Bank of Italy’s provisions 
relating to vehicles for assets underlying covered bank bonds in its Order “The financial statements of IFRS 
intermediaries other than banking intermediaries” of 29 October 2021. 
The entries relating to the securitised loans and instruments match the figures in the accounting records and 
IT system of the servicer Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.. 
 
The accounting policies for the most significant captions are set out below. 
 
 
Securitised assets - Loans and receivables 
 
Loans and receivables have been recognised at their residual value at the securitisation date, net of collections 
received up to the reporting date and any adjustments calculated to determine the estimated realisable value, 
according to the valuation method used by the servicer Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.. 
 
 
 
Securitised assets - Securities 
 
These are stated at their nominal value, which corresponds to the redemption amount, net of collections 
received up to the reporting date and any adjustments calculated to determine the estimated realisable value, 
according to the valuation method used by the servicer Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.. 
 
 
Investment of liquidity - Loans and receivables wit h banks 
 
They are recognised at their nominal amount, which is the same as their estimated realisable value. 
 
 
Subordinated loan 
 
The subordinated loan is recognised at its nominal value including interest accrued as at the reporting date. 
 
 
Other assets - Other liabilities - Prepayments and accrued income, deferred income and accrued 
expenses 
 
These are recognised on an accrual basis in line with the revenue and expense for the year. 
 
 
Derivatives 
 
To protect the vehicle, derivatives are used to hedge fixed and floating rate assets. As they are similar to the 
related hedged assets and liabilities, the swaps are measured at cost and, accordingly, only the accrued 
interest income/expense is recognised. 
 
 
Interest, fees and commissions, income and expense 
 
Costs and revenue related to the securitised assets and the subordinated loan, interest, fees and commissions, 
income, other expense and revenue are all recognised on an accrual basis. 
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Tax treatment of the segregated assets 
 
Circular 8/E of 6 February 2003 issued by the Italian Revenue Agency defined the tax treatment of the 
segregated assets of securitisation vehicles (“vehicles”) and reiterated that the earnings deriving from the 
management of the securitised assets, during the implementation of the transactions concerned, are not 
available to the vehicle. In fact, it considers that the allocation of “segregated” assets excludes the vehicle from 
having a relevant income for tax purposes. It is only at the end of each securitisation that any residual earnings 
from the management of the securitised portfolio – which remain after all creditors of the segregated assets 
have been satisfied and of which the vehicle is the beneficiary – will be subject to taxation, because they will 
become legally available to the vehicle and will therefore contribute to generating its taxable income. 
Lastly, in accordance with Resolution no. 77/E of 4 August 2010 of the Italian Revenue Agency, where the 
segregated assets include receivables for withholding tax applied on interest income accrued on current 
accounts, that withholding tax may be deducted by the vehicle in the year in which the securitisation is 
completed. 
 
 

Additional Interest Amount 
 
The representation of the performance of the securitisation requires the recognition, in the event of a positive 
result, of an Additional Interest Amount to be paid to the Issuer of the Subordinated Loan/Originator (as an 
offsetting entry to a debt). In the event of a negative result, an adjustment is first made to the Additional Interest 
Amount, as an offsetting entry to a reduction of the debt, up to the amount of the debt, followed by the 
recognition of a receivable from the Issuer of the subordinated loan/Originator, up to the amount of the 
subordinated loan received, and, residually, the recognition of the negative result with “open” balances, 
showing any general negative performance of the securitisation at the bottom of the “Summary of the 
securitised assets”. 
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Summary of the securitised assets 
  

 
 
Some of the figures as at 31 December 2020 have been reclassified for the purpose of comparability with the 
figures as at 31 December 2021. 

 
on behalf of the BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Chairperson 
Paola Fandella 

31/12/2021 31/12/2020

 A. Securitised assets 3,493,423,038             3,857,464,312        

 A1) Loans and receivables 2,083,831,719             2,274,726,410        

 A2) Securities 1,392,769,510             1,563,412,418        

 A3) Other   16,821,809                   19,325,484              
- Accrued interest income on loans 11,440,007               11,953,702              
- Accrued interest income on securities 5,190,024                 5,776,687                
- Other securities 191,778                     1,595,095                

B. Utilisation of cash deriving from the 1,171,723,188             1,288,766,995        
 management of loans and receivables

 B3) Other 1,171,723,188             1,288,766,995        
- Cash and cash equivalents 817,116,796             875,267,713            
- Other receivables 354,606,392             413,499,282            

D. Loans received 4,567,470,779             4,967,987,445        

E. Other liabilities 97,675,447                   178,243,862            

- Liabilities for services 104,883                         139,955                    
- Amounts due to originator 619,424                         711,071                    
- Due to securitisation vehicle -                                  42,053                      
- Additional Interest Amount Provision 47,837,107                   118,971,824            
- Other accrued interest expense - accrued interest expense on IRS 49,114,033                   58,378,959              

31/12/2021 31/12/2020

G. Fees and commissions borne by the transaction 1,758,231                     2,068,350                

G1) For servicing 1,510,116                     1,805,557                
G2) For other services 248,115                         262,793                    

H. Other expense 117,905,547                 216,053,833            

- Interest expense on subordinated loan 23,619,114                   27,233,858              
- Losses on loans -                                  543,819                    
- Expected losses on loans -                                  16,953                      
- Losses on securities 614,490                         535,431                    
Expected losses on securities 1,487,980                     588,551                    
- Additional Interest Amount -37,550,405 52,809,129              
Interest expense on IRS 129,635,790                 134,203,570            
- Other expense 98,578                           122,522                    

I. Interest generated by the securitised assets 97,864,061                   111,786,925            

L. Other revenue 21,799,717                   106,335,258            

- Interest income on IRS 13,798,516                   94,926,024              
- Revenues from early termination penalties 28,908                           -                             
- Reversals of impairment losses on loans 4,315,202                     1,670,987                
reversals of impairment losses on securities 3,657,086                     9,738,068                
- Miscellaneous revenues 5                                     179                            
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Breakdown of the main captions of the Summary of th e securitised assets 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 A1) Loans and receivables 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
Loans and receivables 2,000,826,370               2,193,330,968               
Unpaid instalments - principal 6,168,985                       1,105,403                       
Unpaid instalments - interest 1,032,834                       1,008,016                       
Amortised cost 78,674,238                     86,467,933                     
Impairment losses on non-performing loans - -48,193
Impairment losses on performing loans -2,870,708 -7,137,717

2,083,831,719               2,274,726,410               

A2) Securities 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
Debt instruments 1,364,684,134               1,534,028,484               
Not repaid principal 2,345,411                       2,127,776                       
Not repaid interest 753,972                          796,352                          
Difference from transfer 33,989,593                     37,591,337                     
Impairment losses on securities -9,003,600 -11,131,531 

1,392,769,510               1,563,412,418               

B3) Cash and cash equivalents 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
Investment Account 741,519,704                  803,010,785                  
Expenses Account 94,871                             69,493                             
Instalments to be received 75,502,221                     72,187,435                     

817,116,796                  875,267,713                  

B3) Other receivables 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
- accrued interest income on IRS -                                   70,342,132                     
Miscellaneous items 160,953                          160,953                          
Items to be settled 159,084                          108,275                          

 Accrued interest income on subordinated 
loan adjustment 

354,283,347                  342,887,908                  

Loans and receivables with customers 18                                     14                                     
Loans to and receivables from companies 2,990                               -                                   

354,606,392                  413,499,282                  
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QUALITATIVE INFORMATION  
 
Description of the Issue Programme and its performa nce 
 
On 20 May 2009, the vehicle signed a “master sale agreement” (most recently revised on 19 April 2013) 
covering the sale of an initial portfolio of loans and subsequent portfolios as part of a single covered bond 
programme for which it is the guarantor. 
 
Banca Intesa Infrastrutture e Sviluppo S.p.A. - BIIS S.p.A. (now Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. following the partial 
spin-off to the latter on 1 December 2012 with deed no. 1,655, file no. 564 notarised by the notary Morone on 
21 November 2012), sold the vehicle the first loan portfolio on 20 May 2009. The transaction became effective 
on 1 May 2009 and cost approximately €3.8 billion (the carrying amount of the loans at 1 May 2009).  
The portfolio complies with the block criteria as per Law no. 130/1999 and was identified using the objective 
criteria published in the Italian Official Journal of 16 June 2009.  
The consideration paid for the assets was determined using their carrying amounts in the originator’s financial 
statements as required by sector regulations, adjusted appropriately to reflect quantitative and objective 
changes made up until the sale’s effective date. 
BIIS S.p.A. (now Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.) granted the vehicle subordinated loans to allow it to finance the 
acquisition of the loans. These loans partly reflect the financial profile of the bonds issued by Intesa Sanpaolo 
S.p.A. and allow BIIS S.p.A. (now Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.) to maintain an excess spread, equal to the 
difference between the return on the portfolio and the transaction’s total cost (payment of costs and expenses 
of the vehicle and all the parties involved in the transaction). The vehicle will repay the subordinated loans at 
the last redemption date or the extended redemption date of the covered bonds, respecting the applicable 
priority order and funds available, although it is obliged to repay the loans early if the conditions set out in the 
related agreements materialise. 

BIIS S.p.A. (now Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.) sold the vehicle a second portfolio of loans and securities on 30 
March 2010, effective from 1 April 2010, for approximately €2.5 billion (carrying amount of the loans and 
securities).  
The portfolio complies with the block criteria as per Law no. 130/1999 and was identified using the objective 
criteria published in the Italian Official Journal of 15 April 2010.  
The consideration paid for the assets was determined using their carrying amounts in the originator’s financial 
statements as required by sector regulations, adjusted appropriately to reflect quantitative and objective 
changes made up until the sale’s effective date.  
BIIS S.p.A. (now Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.) provided the vehicle with a subordinated loan to finance its 
acquisition of the portfolio at the same conditions as those for the previous loan. 

BIIS S.p.A. (now Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.) sold the vehicle a third portfolio of loans on 28 October 2010, effective 
from 1 November 2010, for approximately €1.7 billion (carrying amount of the loans).  
The portfolio complies with the block criteria as per Law no. 130/1999 and was identified using the objective 
criteria published in the Italian Official Journal of 20 November 2010.  
The consideration paid for the assets was determined using their carrying amounts in the originator’s financial 
statements as required by sector regulations, adjusted appropriately to reflect quantitative and objective 
changes made up until the sale’s effective date. Reconta Ernst & Young S.p.A. (now EY S.p.A.) performed an 
appraisal of some of the assets that did not have a carrying amount at 31 December 2009. 
BIIS S.p.A. (now Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.) provided the vehicle with a subordinated loan to finance its 
acquisition of the portfolio at the same conditions as those for the previous loan. 

BIIS S.p.A. sold the vehicle a fourth portfolio consisting of securities on 16 March 2011 for approximately €2.9 
billion (carrying amount of the securities).  
The portfolio complied with the objective criteria published in the Italian Official Journal of 24 March 2011.  
The consideration paid for the assets was determined using their carrying amounts in the originator’s financial 
statements as required by sector regulations, adjusted appropriately to reflect quantitative and objective 
changes made up until the sale’s effective date. Reconta Ernst & Young S.p.A. (now EY S.p.A.) performed an 
appraisal of the carrying amounts at 31 December 2010 as the originator’s financial statements had not been 
approved at the date the fourth portfolio was sold and when the covered bonds were issued. 
BIIS S.p.A. (now Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.) provided the vehicle with a subordinated loan to finance its 
acquisition of the portfolio at the same conditions as those for the previous loan. 
 
On 24 May 2011, the Board of Directors authorised an increase in the Programme to €20 billion. 
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BIIS S.p.A. (now Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.) sold the vehicle a fifth portfolio of loans on 1 June 2011 for 
approximately €2.6 billion (carrying amount of the loans).  
The portfolio complies with the block criteria as per Law no. 130/1999 and was identified using the objective 
criteria published in the Italian Official Journal of 4 June 2011.  
The consideration paid for the assets was determined using their carrying amounts in the originator’s financial 
statements as required by sector regulations, adjusted appropriately to reflect quantitative and objective 
changes made up until the sale’s effective date.  
BIIS S.p.A. provided the vehicle with a subordinated loan to finance its acquisition of the portfolio at the same 
conditions as those for the previous loan. 

On 21 December 2011, the vehicle returned a portfolio of performing loans of approximately €449 million to 
BIIS S.p.A. (now Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.). This re-acquisition by the originator was necessary as the loans no 
longer met the requirements for inclusion in the cover pool of loans to Italian public sector bodies other than 
local entities due to Italy’s downgrading. 

BIIS S.p.A. (now Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.) sold the vehicle a sixth portfolio of securities on 1 March 2012 for 
approximately €286.8 million (carrying amount of the securities).  
The portfolio complied with the objective criteria published in the Italian Official Journal of 10 March 2012.  
The consideration paid for the assets was determined using their carrying amounts in the originator’s financial 
statements as required by sector regulations, adjusted appropriately to reflect quantitative and objective 
changes made up until the sale’s effective date.  
The vehicle funded the acquisition using the principal available funds.  

On 25 June 2012, the vehicle returned a portfolio comprising two loans to BIIS S.p.A. (now Intesa Sanpaolo 
S.p.A.), which had past due payments that were partly defaulting and two defaulting securities, as per the 
Programme documentation, for a total of approximately €41.3 million.  

On 24 September 2012, the vehicle returned the Generalitat de Catalunya 4.75% 2018 bonds with an 
outstanding payable of €25 million to BIIS S.p.A. (now Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.). It had paid €27,501,961.24 to 
purchase these bonds.  

On 19 April 2013, Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. sold the vehicle a seventh portfolio consisting of zero coupon Italian 
treasury bonds maturing on 30 September 2014 for approximately €1,031 million (carrying amount of the 
bond).  
The portfolio complied with the objective criteria published in the Italian Official Journal of 19 April 2013.  
The consideration paid for the assets was determined using their carrying amounts in the originator’s financial 
statements as required by sector regulations, adjusted appropriately to reflect quantitative and objective 
changes made up until the sale’s effective date.  
The vehicle paid for the portfolio using the principal available funds on 30 September 2013.  

On 7 September 2020, Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. exercised a repurchase option, accepted by the vehicle, in 
relation to several loans identified as a block pursuant to Article 1331 of the Italian Civil Code.  
The loans were returned by the vehicle to the originator Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. for a consideration of 
€132,412,887.63. 
By means of a private agreement notarised at the Office of the Notaries Pietro Sormani and Stefano Ajello, 
the deed of sale was signed on 7 September 2020 with deed no. 67124, file no. 14131. 
The deed of sale was registered at the Italian Revenue Agency, Milan Provincial Department, on 7 September 
2020, under no. 65697, Series 1T. 
 
Pursuant to article 7-bis.1 of Law no. 130/1999 and article 4 of the Ministry for the Economy and Finance 
decree, the vehicle granted a first-demand autonomous, irrevocable and unconditional guarantee to the 
bondholders with limited recourse to the cover pool assets (the covered bonds guarantee). In accordance with 
the covered bonds guarantee, if the issuer defaults (i.e., non-payment of interest and/or principal on the bonds) 
and following receipt of a notice to pay from the bondholders’ representative, to be sent as per the Intercreditor 
Agreement, the vehicle will meet the issuer’s obligations with the bondholders in line with the originally agreed 
terms and conditions to the extent of the segregated assets. The guarantee agreement was also signed by 
Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. as acknowledgement of its issue by the vehicle to the bondholders and of the related 
terms and conditions. 
 
Italian law requires that the validity of the guarantee be checked over the bonds’ term. Accordingly, Banca 
Finint S.p.A. (which absorbed the subsidiary Securitisation Services S.p.A. in 2020 by means of merger), 
performs tests of the portfolio, in its capacity as the calculation agent. To check whether the nominal amount, 
present value and interest flows (considering the hedging swaps and the transaction costs) of the portfolio 
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allow the vehicle, where necessary, to pay the interest and principal of the issued bonds. B.D.O. Italia S.p.A. 
checks the tests’ accuracy as the asset monitor, which has to be an audit company as per the supervisory 
instructions. Management of the portfolio over the transaction term is regulated by a portfolio administration 
agreement signed, inter alia, by the vehicle and Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.. 
 
As set out in the “General information” section, on 21 November 2012, BIIS S.p.A. and Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. 
signed a partial spin-off deed whereby the operations of BIIS S.p.A. were transferred to Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.. 
The latter took over all BIIS S.p.A.’s legal relationships on 1 December 2012, including those for the 
Programme. As a result of this spin-off, Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. took on the roles previously held by BIIS S.p.A. 
(originator, servicer, swap counterparty, lender of the subordinated loan and receivables collection account 
bank). 
 
The transaction’s financial structure provides for the six-monthly payment of the transaction costs, i.e., at the 
payment dates of 31 March and 30 September of each year. 
 
Information about the cash flows and payments of 2021 is set out below. 
 
Twenty-third Payment Date (31 March 2021) 
 
On 31 March 2021, the vehicle made the payments in accordance with the Prospectus for the collections 
received from 1 August 2020 to 31 January 2021. 
  
The funds available for distribution by the vehicle amounted to €166.3 million, of which: 
• €43.9 million as collections on the portfolio for interest payments 
• €0 in interest received on current accounts  
• €1.4 million from swap contracts 
• €0 remaining amount in the investment current account 
• €0 as the interest accumulation amount 
• €12.3 million as the CB swap accumulation amount  
• €57.3 million as the reserve amount. 
• €51.4 million as the CB swap interest amount in the transaction current account. 
The following payments were made with these funds: 
• €1 million as remuneration to the third parties that provided services to the vehicle 
• €167 thousand as the reimbursement of corporate costs and advances to organise the transaction  
• €44.1 million as payment to the swap counterparty 
• €12.5 million as interest for the subordinated loan 
• €32.9 million as premium interest for the subordinated loan 
• €12.3 million as a provision for the CB swap accumulation amount 
• €63.4 million as the reserve amount. 
 
The amount of €400 million was also used from the principal available funds to partially repay the subordinated 
loan. 
 
 
Twenty-fourth Payment Date (30 September 2021) 
 
On 30 September 2021, the vehicle made the payments in accordance with the Prospectus for the collections 
received from 1 February 2021 to 31 July 2021. 
                                  
The funds available for distribution by the vehicle amounted to €138.9 million, of which: 
• €63.3 million as collections on the portfolio for interest payments 
• €0 in interest received on current accounts  
• €0 from swaps 
• €12.3 million as the amount already credited to the investment current account on the previous payment 

date  
• €63.4 million as the reserve amount. 
The following payments were made with these funds: 
• €850 thousand as remuneration to the third parties that provided services to the vehicle  
• €40 thousand as the reimbursement of corporate costs and advances to organise the transaction 
• €63.5 million as payment to the swap counterparty 
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• €11.6 million as interest to Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. for the subordinated loan 
• €700 thousand as premium interest for the subordinated loan  
• €62.3 million as the reserve amount. 
 
 
 
Parties involved   
 
In addition to ISP CB Pubblico S.r.l. (the Covered Bond Guarantor), the main parties involved in the Covered 
Bond Programme are: 
 
Originator and Subordinated Loan Provider  Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. 

 Issuer  Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. 

 Servicer  Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. 

 Administrative Services Provider  Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. 

 Account Bank  Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. 

 Cash Manager  Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. 

 Paying Agent   Deutsche Bank S.p.A. 

 Representative of the Covered Bondholders  Banca Finint S.p.A.  

 Calculation Agent  Banca Finint S.p.A.  

 Asset Monitor  BDO Italia S.p.A. 

 Luxembourg Listing Agent   Deutsche Bank Luxembourg S.A.  

 Rating Agency   Moody’s Investors Service (Moody’s or the Rating Agency). 

 Swap Service Provider   Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. 

 CB Hedging Counterparty:  Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. 

 TBG Hedging Counterparty:  Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. 
    

 
Up until 30 November 2012, when it was replaced by Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. (as per the spin-off deed of 21 
November 2012), BIIS S.p.A. collected and managed the securitised loans on behalf of the vehicle. Intesa 
Sanpaolo S.p.A. is also the servicer as per Law no. 130/1999 and it may sub-delegate activities to third parties. 
Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. provides IT infrastructure, including via Intesa Sanpaolo Group Services S.c.p.a. (now 
merged into Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.), and performs the back office activities for collections on the securitised 
loans, as per the Group’s regulations. As servicer, Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. is also responsible for ensuring that 
the transaction activities comply with the law and the Prospectus, as per article 2.6 of Law no. 130/1999.  
 
Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. and the vehicle have signed an administrative services agreement under which the 
former provides the vehicle administrative, accounting and corporate services (including book keeping, tax 
returns and corporate activities).  
 
Following enactment of the EMIR, which imposes specific regulatory obligations on parties to OTC derivative 
contracts, in February 2014, Intesa Sanpaolo Group Services S.c.p.a. (now merged into Intesa Sanpaolo 
S.p.A.) and Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. were entrusted with the performance of certain of these mandatory 
activities as representatives of the vehicle (specifically, Intesa Sanpaolo Group Services S.c.p.a. (now merged 
into Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.) is responsible for reconciling the portfolios and managing disputes while Intesa 
Sanpaolo S.p.A. is in charge of reporting).  
 
The amounts collected by the Servicer Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. are paid into accounts opened with it. Intesa 
Sanpaolo S.p.A., also acts as Account Bank and Cash Manager for the transaction and manages the liquidity 
between the collection and payment dates established by the relevant agreements. 
 
Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. receives a fee in line with market conditions for these services. 
 
Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. selected Deutsche Bank as the paying agent for the covered bonds. Banca Finint 
S.p.A. (which absorbed the subsidiaries Securitisation Services S.p.A. and FISG S.r.l. by merger in 2020) has 
been selected for the roles of Representative of the Holders of the Covered Bonds and Calculation Agent. The 
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Luxembourg listing agent is currently Deutsche Bank Luxembourg S.A., while B.D.O. Italia, as mentioned 
above, acts as asset monitor. 
 
All the above parties signed the Intercreditor Agreement, acknowledging and accepting that all the vehicle’s 
obligations, as per the transaction documents, are limited recourse obligations, conditioned by and limited to 
its available funds and that these funds can only be used by the vehicle in accordance with the payment priority 
order set out in the aforesaid Intercreditor Agreement up until full redemption of the covered bonds and 
satisfaction of all other creditors’ claims.  
 
Banca IMI S.p.A. (now merged into Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.) assisted Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. to structure the 
transaction as arranger of the first issuance. 

 
 
Issue characteristics 
 
The main characteristics of the covered bonds issued by Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. (the issuer) as part of the 
Covered Bond Programme, for which ISP CB Pubblico S.r.l., as guarantor of the bonds, has issued the covered 
bond guarantee to the bondholders, are set out below.  

Moody’s Investor Service rated the bonds AAA after analysing the portfolio, the legal documentation and the 
transaction’s structure. 

The first issue of Intesa Sanpaolo covered bonds on 24 July 2009 amounted to €3 billion. The bonds paid six-
monthly coupons at a floating six-month Euribor plus a spread. The payment dates were 6 April and 6 October 
of each year starting from 6 April 2010. The bonds paid interest for the first period of roughly nine months using 
the nine-month Euribor of 2 July 2009 as a base (1.404%). The bonds had a term of just over two years and 
were to be redeemed in a bullet payment on 6 October 2011. The redemption date could be extended by one 
year to 6 October 2012. The bonds were rated AAA by Moody’s. They matured and were fully redeemed on 6 
October 2011. 
 

The second issue of 28 April 2010 amounted to €2 billion and was fully placed on the market. The bonds had 
a seven-year term (bullet payment on 28 April 2017), which could have been extended by one year to 28 April 
2018. The bonds paid an annual coupon at a fixed rate of 3.25%. The payment date was 28 April of each year 
starting from 28 April 2011. The bonds were rated AAA by Moody’s. The issue was subject to the exchange 
offer in the period from July to September 2012, as described in more detail below: €1,863,250,000 was 
acquired by Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. as collateral to be placed with the Eurosystem, while €136,750,000 
remained on the market. The bonds matured on 28 April 2017. 

The third issue of 27 January 2011 amounted to €1.5 billion and was fully placed on the market. The bonds 
have a ten-year term (bullet payment on 27 January 2021), which may be extended by one year to 27 January 
2022. The bonds paid an annual coupon at a fixed rate of 5.00%. The payment date is 27 January of each 
year starting from 27 January 2012. The bonds were rated AAA by Moody’s. The issue was subject to the 
exchange offer in the period from July to September 2012, as described in more detail below: €1,353,028,000 
was acquired by Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. as collateral to be placed with the Eurosystem, while €146,972,000 
remained on the market. The bond was fully redeemed with a value date of 27 January 2021.  

The fourth issue of 30 March 2011 amounted to €2.4 billion and was fully subscribed by Banca IMI S.p.A. and 
then sold to BIIS S.p.A.. The bonds had a two-year term (bullet payment on 6 April 2013), which could have 
been extended by one year to 6 April 2014. The bonds paid a six-monthly coupon at a floating rate six-month 
Euribor plus a spread. The payment dates were 6 April and 6 October of each year, starting from 6 October 
2011. The bonds were rated AAA by Moody’s. They matured and were fully redeemed on 6 April 2013. 

The fifth issue of 29 July 2011 amounted to €2 billion and was fully subscribed by Banca IMI S.p.A. and then 
sold to BIIS S.p.A.. The bonds had a two-year term (bullet payment on 6 October 2013), which could have 
been extended by one year to 6 October 2014. The bonds paid a six-monthly coupon at a floating rate six-
month Euribor plus a spread. The payment dates were 6 April and 6 October of each year, starting from 6 April 
2012. The bonds were rated AAA by Moody’s. They were redeemed in advance on 2 October 2013. 

The sixth issue of 1 December 2011 amounted to €2.4 billion and was fully subscribed by Banca IMI S.p.A. 
and then sold to BIIS S.p.A.. The bonds had a two-year term (bullet payment on 7 April 2014), which could 
have been extended by one year to 7 April 2015. The bonds paid a six-monthly coupon at a floating rate six- 
month Euribor plus a spread. The payment dates were 6 April and 6 October of each year, starting from 6 April 
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2012. The bonds were rated Aa3 by Moody’s. The bonds were partially redeemed (€1 billion) on 24 March 
2014, with the remainder (€1.4 billion) redeemed on 3 April 2014. 
 
On 5 June 2012, and as resolved by its management board, Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A., as issuer, approved an 
exchange offer, enabling the holders of the only two series of covered bonds still on the market (series 2 and 
3) to exchange their bonds for new covered bonds issued as part of the Programme guaranteed by ISP CB 
Ipotecario S.r.l.. 
The first stage of the exchange offer took place on 16 July 2012 with two new issues as part of the Programme 
guaranteed by ISP CB Ipotecario S.r.l. with the same characteristics: 
 

(a) ISIN IT0004839251, the tenth issue of the ISP CB Ipotecario Programme, €1,813,150,000, replacing 
the covered bonds of €2,000,000,000 (ISIN IT0004603434) of the ISP CB Pubblico Programme, 
bearing a fixed interest rate of 3.25% and maturing on 28 April 2017. 

(b) ISIN IT0004839046, the eleventh issue of the ISP CB Ipotecario Programme, €1,341,823,000, 
replacing the covered bonds of €1,500,000,000 (ISIN IT0004679368) of the ISP CB Pubblico 
Programme, bearing a fixed interest rate of 5.00% and maturing on 27 January 2021. 

 
Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. concurrently acquired the portion of the two covered bond series guaranteed by ISP 
CB Pubblico S.r.l., object of the exchange offer, and included them in its eligible assets with the Eurosystem. 
The exchange offer was closed on 25 September 2012 and, following an additional request from the investors, 
a second tranche was issued integrating the two initial issues of the Programme guaranteed by ISP CB 
Ipotecario by €50,100,000 for the tenth series and €11,205,000 for the eleventh series, with the subsequent 
re-acquisition by Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. of identical amounts of the Programme issues guaranteed by ISP CB 
Pubblico. 

The seventh issue of 29 April 2013 of €2 billion was fully subscribed by Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.. The bonds 
had a term of 2.5 years (bullet payment on 6 October 2015), which could have been extended by one year to 
6 October 2016. The bonds paid a six-monthly coupon at a floating rate six- month Euribor plus a spread. The 
payment dates were 6 April and 6 October of each year, starting from 7 October 2013. The bonds were rated 
A3 by Moody’s. The bonds were fully redeemed in advance on 2 October 2015. 

The eighth issue of 14 October 2013 of €2.2 billion was fully subscribed by Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.. The bonds 
had a term of 2.5 years (bullet payment on 6 April 2016), which could have been extended by one year to 6 
April 2017. The bonds paid a six-monthly coupon at a floating rate six- month Euribor plus a spread. The 
payment dates were 6 April and 6 October of each year, starting from 7 April 2014. The bonds were rated A3 
by Moody’s and were fully redeemed in advance on 4 April 2016. 

The ninth issue of 24 March 2014 of €1 billion was fully subscribed by Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.. The bonds had 
an approximate two-year term (bullet payment on 6 April 2016), which could have been extended by one year 
to 6 April 2017. The bonds paid a six-monthly coupon at a floating six-month Euribor plus a spread. The 
payment dates were 6 April and 6 October of each year, starting from 6 April 2014. The bonds were rated A2 
by Moody’s and were fully redeemed in advance on 27 January 2016. 

The tenth issue of 23 October 2015 of €1.7 billion was fully subscribed by Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.. The bonds 
have an approximate seven-year term (bullet payment on 6 October 2022), which may be extended by one 
year to 6 April 2023. The bonds paid a six-monthly coupon at a floating six-month Euribor plus a spread. The 
payment dates are 6 April and 6 October of each year, starting from 6 April 2016. The bonds were rated A1 by 
Moody’s. 
The nominal value of the bonds was partially reduced by €500 million on 27 January 2017, by €100 million on 
29 July 2019, by €550 million on 24 January 2020, and by €300 million on 31 July 2020. resulting in a new 
nominal amount of €250 million. 

The eleventh issue of 22 April 2016 amounted to €1.1 billion and was fully subscribed by Intesa Sanpaolo 
S.p.A.. The bonds had an approximate two-year term (bullet payment on 6 October 2018), which could have 
been extended by one year to 6 October 2019. The bonds paid a six-monthly coupon at a floating six-month 
Euribor plus a spread. The payment dates were 6 April and 6 October of each year, starting from 6 October 
2016. The bonds were rated A1 by Moody’s. 
On 30 January 2018, €600 million of the nominal amount of the bonds was partially redeemed in advance. On 
27 July 2018, €250 million of the nominal amount of the bonds was partially redeemed in advance; the residual 
nominal amount of €250 million was redeemed upon maturity on 6 October 2018. 

The twelfth issue of 22 April 2016 of €1.275 billion was fully subscribed by Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.. The bonds 
have an approximate seven-year term (bullet payment on 6 October 2023), which may be extended by one 
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year to 6 October 2024. The bonds paid a six-monthly coupon at a floating six-month Euribor plus a spread. 
The payment dates were 6 April and 6 October of each year, starting from 6 October 2016. The bonds were 
rated A1 by Moody’s. 

The thirteenth issue of 17 May 2017 of €1.650 billion was fully subscribed by Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.. The 
bonds have an approximate seven-year term (bullet payment on 6 October 2024), which may be extended by 
one year to 6 October 2025. The bonds paid a six-monthly coupon at a floating six-month Euribor plus a 
spread. The payment dates are 6 April and 6 October of each year, starting from 6 October 2017. The bonds 
were rated A1 by Moody’s. On 25 January 2019, €600 million of the nominal amount of the bonds was partially 
redeemed in advance, resulting in a new nominal amount of €1,050 million. 

The fourteenth issue of 18 February 2021, for €1 billion and with a maturity of 6 October 2026 (with possibility 
of extension to 6 October 2027), was fully subscribed by Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.. The bonds paid a six-monthly 
coupon at a floating six-month Euribor plus a spread. The payment dates are 6 April and 6 October of each 
year. The bonds were rated A2 by Moody’s.  
 
Moody’s revised the ratings of all the covered bond issues guaranteed by ISP CB Pubblico S.r.l. as follows: 
on 6 October 2011 from AAA to Aa1, on 29 November 2011 from Aa1 to Aa3, on 13 June 2012 from Aa3 to 
A1, on 13 July 2012 from A1 to A2, on 7 August 2012 from A2 to A3; on 21 February 2014, they were upgraded 
to A2 and finally on 23 June 2015 they were again upgraded to A1. 
Moody’s downgraded the rating of the ISP CB Pubblico Programme from A1 to A2 as of 25 January 2019. 
 
Related financial transactions 
 
The vehicle agreed fifteen swaps with the derivatives counterparty (initially BIIS S.p.A. and, subsequently, 
Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. after the spin-off of 21 November 2012), including thirteen total balance guaranteed 
swaps and two fixed/floating IRS.  
The thirteen total balance guaranteed swaps hedge the fixed- and floating-rate assets.  
The two fixed/floating-rate IRS, the second of which was terminated in January 2021, hedged the vehicle 
against interest rate risk arising from the issuer’s default.  
 
The vehicle’s operating powers  
 
The vehicle may invest the available cash collected during each collection period until the next payment date 
via the cash manager. The investment characteristics (eligible investments and authorised investments) are 
agreed with the rating agency.  
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QUANTITATIVE INFORMATION 
 

Cash flows from securitised assets 

Loans and receivables 

Carrying amount 
 

 

Securities 

Carrying amount 

 

 
 
The items related to securitised loans and securities and the interest income/expense generated by analytical 
and collective assessments, were recognised based on the methods and information provided by the servicer 
(Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.). 

1 May 2009 31 December 2021

a)     Opening balance 3,790,358,323         

b)    Increases 8,341,220,129             67,102,490               

b.1 interest 1,919,152,572             62,244,415               
b.2 default/legal interest 1,275,107                     267                             
b.3 penalties for redemptions
       early and other
b.4 acquisitions 6,393,128,233             -                              
b.5 other increases 27,664,217                   4,828,900                 

c)    Decreases 9,856,852,042             257,997,181             

c.1 collections 8,885,883,427             250,152,678             
c.2 sales 619,986,312                 -                              
c.3 other decreases in loans 350,982,303                 7,844,503                 

      Closing balance 2,083,831,719         

28,908                       

Changes in previous 
years

Changes in current 
year

1 April 2010 31 December 2021

a)     Opening balance 446,261,021             

b)    Increases 4,988,801,624             39,863,128               

b.1 interest on securities 671,115,048                 35,619,379               
b.3 acquisitions 4,240,599,184             -                              
b.2 other increases 77,087,392                   4,243,749                 

c)    Decreases 3,871,650,227             210,506,036             

c.1 collections on securities 3,715,635,208             206,205,140             
c.2 sales 29,813,618                   -                              
c.3 other decreases 126,201,401                 4,300,896                 

      Closing balance 1,392,769,510         

Changes in previous 
years

Changes in current 
year
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Past due loans  
 

The table below shows the changes in gross past due loans (not repaid principal and interest) during the 
year based on the classifications envisaged in the servicing agreements. 
 

 
 
With regard to the classification of the loans in accordance with the provisions of Bank of Italy Circular no. 
262/2005 and the IAS/IFRS and the EU supervisory regulations, all of the loans net of impairment losses 
consist of performing exposures. 
 

Past due securities  
 

The table below shows the changes in gross past due securities (not repaid principal and interest) during the 
year based on the classifications envisaged in the servicing agreements. 
 

 
 

With regard to the classification of the securities, in accordance with the provisions of Bank of Italy Circular no. 
262/2005 and the IAS/IFRS and the EU supervisory regulations, 99.68% of the securities net of value 
adjustments consist of performing exposures. 

1 May 2009 31 December 2021

a)     Opening balance -                              

b)    Increases 584,331,651             7,201,819                 

b.1 interest
        accrued 116,377,600             1,032,834                 
b.2 default/legal interest
        accrued 1,240,147                 
b.3 legal and other changes -                              -                              
b.4 principal 466,713,904             6,168,985                 

c)    Decreases 582,218,232             2,113,419                 

c.1 collections 582,092,689             2,113,419                 
c.2 other decreases 125,543                     -                              

       Closing balance 7,201,819                   

Changes in 
previous years

Changes in current 
year

1 April 2010 31 December 2021

a)     Opening balance -                              

b)    Increases 10,676,929               3,099,383                 

b.1 interest
        accrued 3,170,165                 753,972                     
b.2 default/legal interest
        accrued -                              -                              
b.3 legal and other changes -                              -                              
b.4 principal 7,506,764                 2,345,411                 

c)    Decreases 7,752,800                 2,924,129                 

c.1 collections 7,752,800                 2,924,129                 
c.2 other decreases -                              -                              

       Closing balance 3,099,383                   

Changes in 
previous years

Changes in current 
year
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Cash flows 
 
Collections (from 1 January to 31 December 2021) 
 

 
 
Collections are expected to be in line with the portfolio’s performance in 2022. 
 
 

Description 2021 2020

Loans and receivables 250,152,678                      359,128,250                      

Securities 206,205,140                      207,516,644                      

Return of loans and receivables -                                           132,412,888                      

Total 456,357,818                      699,057,782                      

Other cash inflows related to:

CC expenses 25,378                                57,474                                

VAT refund -                                       122,407                              

Net interest on current accounts -                                       207                                      

Reserve Fund Required Amount -                                       -                                           

Derivatives for interest collected 52,818,610                        60,098,862                        

TOTAL COLLECTIONS 509,201,806                      759,336,732                      

Cash outflows related to:

CC expenses -                                       -                                           

Management fees 2,053,952                          2,417,502                          

Interest on subordinated loan 24,135,781                        30,520,192                        

Additional return on subordinated loan 33,584,313                        53,963,454                        

Derivatives for interest paid 107,578,677                      126,230,094                      

Reserve Fund Required Amount -                                       -                                           

Repayment of subordinated loan - Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. 400,000,000                      1,000,000,000                  

TOTAL PAYMENTS 567,352,723                      1,213,131,242                  

NET INFLOWS/OUTFLOWS -58,150,917 -453,794,510 

Availability at the beginning of the year 875,267,713                      1,329,062,223                  

Availability at the end of the year 817,116,796                      875,267,713                      

Net change -58,150,917 -453,794,510 
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Status of guarantees and credit facilities 
 
The vehicle does not have credit facilities. 

 
Breakdown by residual life 
 

 
 
Breakdown by geographical location 
 
Loans and receivables  

• Country of residence of debtors: Italy; 
• Currency of denomination of loans: Euro. 

 
Securities  

• Country of residence of debtors:  
- Italy: €1,356,333,184  
- France: €36,436,326  

• Currency of denomination of the securities: Euro. 
                   
Liabilities – loans received 

• Country of residence of debtors: Italy; 
• Currency of denomination of loans: Euro. 

 

Risk concentration 
 

Breakdown of loan portfolio by amount 
 

The table below shows the number and total amount of the loans as at 31 December 2021.  
 

 

1. Securitised assets
1.1 loans 2,867,720               128,757,588          483,782,414          1,461,157,516       7,266,481               2,083,831,719       
1.2 securities -                           26,667,529            461,196,794          904,905,187          -                           1,392,769,510       
1.3 other assets 16,821,809            -                           -                           -                           -                           16,821,809            

Total 19,689,529            155,425,117          944,979,208          2,366,062,703       7,266,481               3,493,423,038       

2. Financial liabilities

2.1 financing -                           5,892,039               -                           4,561,578,740       -                           4,567,470,779       

2.2 other liabilities -                           49,838,340            -                           47,837,107            -                           97,675,447            

Total -                           55,730,379            -                           4,609,415,847       -                           4,665,146,226       

 past due Total      up to 3 months  3 months -1 year  1 - 5 years   after 5 years 

% Amount %

0 - €25,000 22                                   7.41% -                            0.00%
€25,000 - €75,000 2                                     0.67% 110,321              0.01%
€75,000 - €250,000 23                                   7.74% 4,892,587           0.23%
more than €250,000 250                                84.18% 2,078,828,811   99.76%

Total 297                                100% 2,083,831,719   100%

Bracket No. of transactions
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Indication of each loan that individually exceeds 2 % of the total amount of loans in the portfolio 
 

 
 

 
Breakdown of securities portfolio by amount 
 

The table below shows the number and total amount of the securities as at 31 December 2021.  
 

 
 
 
Indication of each security that individually excee ds 2% of the total amount of securities in the port folio 
 

 

Amount

1                                     58,130,441        
1                                     47,383,633        
1                                     85,222,262        
1                                     46,838,000        
1                                     197,700,000      
1                                     206,145,361      
1                                     203,088,613      

7                                     844,508,310      

No. of transactions

% Amount %

0 - €25,000 -                                      0.00% -                            0.00%
€25,000 - €75,000 19                                   3.51% 1,182,689           0.08%
€75,000 - €250,000 84                                   15.53% 14,152,565        1.02%
more than €250,000 438                                80.96% 1,377,434,256   98.90%

Total 541                                100% 1,392,769,510   100%

Bracket No. of transactions

Amount

1                                     93,984,000        
1                                     86,958,900        
1                                     79,447,280        
1                                     41,554,771        
1                                     28,654,000        

5                                     330,598,951      

No. of transactions
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Section 3 – Risks and related hedging policies 
 
3.1 Credit risk 
 
1. General aspects 

 
Qualitative disclosure 
 
The vehicle only has on-demand receivables consisting of current accounts held with Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A., 
which are not considered to have any credit risk. 
Following the update of the rules for IFRS financial statements of intermediaries other than banking 
intermediaries, these relationships have been reclassified from caption 40 “Financial assets measured at 
amortised cost” to caption 10 “Cash and cash equivalents”. 
 
With regard to the segregated assets, the vehicle is subject to risks arising from the failure to collect amounts 
due from debtors and the servicer’s failure to perform its duties and commitments to collect sufficient funds to 
meet its payment obligations under the Programme. These risks are mitigated by the issue of covered bonds 
by Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. for a total amount that is lower than the value of the portfolios of Securitised loans.  
As at 31 December 2021, all the covered bonds issued under the Programme were subscribed by Intesa 
Sanpaolo S.p.A. 
 
Impacts resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic 
 
With regard to the vehicle’s operations, the adverse effects of the economic and financial crisis resulting from 
the COVID-19 pandemic and the continued macroeconomic uncertainty has not had an impact on the 
management of the vehicle. Also with regard to the segregated assets, due to the type of assets securitised 
(loans and securities to government entities), there were no increases in adjustments to loans during the year 
and there were no effects on the performance of operations. In this regard, you are reminded that the individual 
and collective valuations of the securitised assets, as well as their classification, are provided by Intesa 
Sanpaolo, the originator and servicer of the outstanding securitisation. 
 
For more details in this regard, see the “Quantitative disclosure” in Part H – Covered Bonds.  
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Quantitative disclosure 
 
Although on-demand receivables meet the definition of on-balance sheet credit exposures, by convention they 
are not included in the tables in Section 3.1., except in the specifically identified cases in which they must be 
considered.  
 
The table below refers to the vehicle’s operation. 
 
6. Credit exposures to customers, banks and financi al companies  
6.1 On- and off-balance sheet credit exposures to b anks and financial companies: gross and net values 
 

 
 
“On-demand on-balance sheet credit exposures” include on-demand receivables from banks classified in the 
caption “Cash and cash equivalents” and consisting of current accounts held with Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.. 
 

Net 
exposure 

Total partial 
write-offs*

First stage
Second 
stage

Third stage

Purchased 
or 

originated 
credit-

impaired

First stage
Second 
stage

Third stage

Purchased 
or 

originated 
credit-

impaired
 A. ON-BALANCE SHEET CREDIT EXPOSURES 
 A.1 On-demand        218,208        218,208                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -        218,208                      - 
 a) Non-performing                      - X                      - - - - X -                      -                      - - - 
 b) Performing        218,208 218,208                      - X - - - - X                      - 218,208 - 
 A.2 Other                      -                      - - - - - -                      - - - 
 a) Bad loans                      - X                      - - - - X - -                      - - - 
 -of which: forborne exposures                      - X                      - - - - X - -                      - - - 
 b) Unlikely to pay                      - X                      - - - - X - -                      - - - 
 -of which: forborne exposures                      - X                      - - - - X - -                      - - - 
 c) Non-performing past due exposures                      - X                      - - - - X - -                      - - - 
 -of which: forborne exposures                      - X                      - - - - X - -                      - - - 
 d) Performing past due exposures                      - -                      - X - - - - X                      - - - 
 -of which: forborne exposures                      - -                      - X - - - - X                      - - - 
 e) Other performing exposures                      - -                      - X - - - - X                      - - - 
 -of which: forborne exposures                      - -                      - X - - - - X                      - - - 

TOTAL A 218,208 218,208 - - - - - - - - 218,208 - 
 B. OFF-BALANCE SHEET EXPOSURES 
 a) Non-performing                      - X                      -                      - - - X - - - - - 
 b) Performing                      - -                      - X - - - - X - - - 

TOTAL B - - - - - - - - - - - - 
TOTAL (A+B) 218,208 218,208 - - - - - - - - 218,208 - 

* Amount to be stated for disclosure purposes

Total value adjustments and total provisions for credit risk

   

Gross exposure
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3.2 Market risk 
   
3.2.1 Interest rate risk 
 
Qualitative disclosure 
 
1. General aspects 

 
The vehicle is not exposed to interest rate risk because it only has on-demand receivables consisting of current 
accounts held with Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. 
 
With regard to the segregated assets, the interest rate risk mainly consists of the potential loss arising from 
changes in interest rates between the securitised assets and the covered bonds and only occurs when the 
Issuer is no longer able to meet its commitments arising from the covered bond issues. This risk is mitigated 
by the vehicle by entering into derivative contracts with the counterparty Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.. For more 
details, see the “Quantitative disclosure” in Part H – Covered Bonds.  
In addition, as at 31 December 2021 all the covered bonds issued under the Programme were subscribed by 
Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.. 
 
Qualitative disclosure 
 
The vehicle is not exposed to interest rate risk. 
 
Quantitative disclosure  
 
1. Breakdown by residual maturity (repricing date) of financial assets and liabilities   
 

 
 
3.2.2 Price risk 
 
This section has not been completed because there are no risk positions of this kind. 
  
3.2.3 Foreign Exchange risk 
 
This section has not been completed because there are no risk positions of this kind. 
 

  On-demand
Up to 3 
months

3 - 6 months
6 months - 1 

year
1 - 5 years 5 - 10 years

After 10 
years

Unspecified 
maturity

 1. Assets 

 1.1 Debt instruments    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    

 1.2 Loans and receivables -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    

 1.3 Other assets        218,208 -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    

 2. Liabilities  

 2.1 Financial liabilities -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    

 2.2 Debt instruments -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    

 2.3 Other liabilities -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    

 3. Financial derivatives 

 Options 

 3.1 Long positions -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    

 3.2 Short positions -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    

 Other derivatives 

 3.3 Long positions -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    

 3.4 Short positions -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    
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3.3 Operational risk 
 
Qualitative disclosure 
 
1. General aspects, management processes and operat ional risk measurement methods 

 
With regard to operational risk, you are reminded that the vehicle does not have any employees and that the 
vehicle has delegated the activities necessary for the operational management of the segregated assets to 
specialist professional providers of financial and regulatory services for these operations.  
 
3.4 Liquidity risk 
 
Qualitative disclosure 
 
1. General aspects, management processes and liquid ity risk measurement methods 
 
The vehicle believes that it has sufficient available cash to meet its commitments, because the contractual 
provisions establish that, on the payment dates, the vehicle will be reimbursed from the segregated assets for 
the operating expenses incurred to maintain it in good standing. 
 
With regard to the liquidity risk of the segregated assets, the structure of the transaction, as governed by the 
related contracts, requires the vehicle, in accordance with the provisions of Article 1, paragraph 2 of Law no. 
130, to only use the collections from the securitised assets on each payment date to “satisfy the rights 
embedded in the securities issued, by it or by another company, to fund the purchase of those loans and pay 
transaction costs”.  
In any event, the structure of the transaction provides that where the collections from the securitised assets 
are, temporarily, insufficient to meet the obligations assumed, the vehicle can make use of the instruments 
indicated in the paragraph “Related financial transactions” of the “Quantitative information” in Part H – Covered 
Bonds.  
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Quantitative disclosure  
 
The table below refers to the vehicle’s operation. 
 
1. Breakdown by contractual residual maturity of fi nancial assets and liabilities 
 

 
 
Disclosure on risks 
 
Pursuant to article 7-bis.1 of Law no. 130 and article 4 of the Ministry for the Economy and Finance decree, 
the vehicle granted a first-demand autonomous, irrevocable and unconditional guarantee to the bondholders 
with limited recourse to the cover pool assets (the covered bonds guarantee). In accordance with the covered 
bonds guarantee, if the issuer defaults (i.e., non-payment of interest and/or principal on the bonds) and 
following receipt of a notice to pay from the bondholders’ representative, to be sent as per the Intercreditor 
Agreement, the vehicle will meet the issuer’s obligations with the bondholders in line with the originally agreed 
terms and conditions to the extent of the segregated assets. The risk of partial or total non-collection of the 
cover pool assets included in the segregated assets has been transferred to the originator BIIS S.p.A. (now 
Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.) which granted ISP CB Pubblico S.r.l. a subordinated loan which it used to fully finance 
the transaction. 
 
 

Captions/Residual maturity
On-

demand
1 - 7 
days

7 - 15 
days

15 days -
1 month

1 -3 
months

3 - 6 
months

6 
months - 
1 year

1 - 3 
years

3 - 5 
years

After
5 years

un
sp

ec
ifi

e
d 

m
at

ur
ity

On-balance sheet assets
A.1 Government bonds -        -        -        -         -        -        -        -        -        -        -        
A.2 Other debt instruments -        -        -        -         -        -        -        -        -        -        -        
A.3 Loans -        -        -        -         -        -        -        -        -        -        -        
A.4 Other assets 218,208 -        -        -         -        -        -        -        -        -        -        

On-balance sheet liabilities
B.1 Due to: -        -        -        -         -        -        -        -        -        -        -        
       - Banks -        -        -        -         -        -        -        -        -        -        -        
       - Financial companies -        -        -        -         -        -        -        -        -        -        -        
       - Customers -        -        -        -         -        -        -        -        -        -        -        
B.2 Debt instruments -        -        -        -         -        -        -        -        -        -        -        
B.3 Other liabilities -        -        -        -         -        -        -        -        -        -        -        

Off-balance sheet transactions
C.1 Financial derivatives with
       exchange of principal -        -        -        -         -        -        -        -        -        -        -        
       - Long positions -        -        -        -         -        -        -        -        -        -        -        
       - Short positions -        -        -        -         -        -        -        -        -        -        -        

C.2 Financial derivatives without
       exchange of principal -        -        -        -         -        -        -        -        -        -        -        
       - Positive difference -        -        -        -         -        -        -        -        -        -        -        
       - Negative difference -        -        -        -         -        -        -        -        -        -        -        

C.3 Financing to be received -        -        -        -         -        -        -        -        -        -        -        
       - Long positions -        -        -        -         -        -        -        -        -        -        -        
       - Short positions -        -        -        -         -        -        -        -        -        -        -        

C.4 Irrevocable loan commitments
-        -        -        -         -        -        -        -        -        -        -        

       - Long positions -        -        -        -         -        -        -        -        -        -        -        
       - Short positions -        -        -        -         -        -        -        -        -        -        -        

C.5 Financial guarantees
       issued -        -        -        -         -        -        -        -        -        -        -        

C.6 Financial guarantees
       received -        -        -        -         -        -        -        -        -        -        -        
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Section 4 - Equity 
 
4.1 Equity 
 
4.1.1 Qualitative disclosure 
 
The management of the vehicle’s assets consists of the set of policies that determine their size in order to 
ensure that they are adequate for the vehicle’s operations and meet the quantitative and qualitative 
requirements established by law. 
The vehicle was established in accordance with Law no. 130/1999, in the form of a limited liability company, 
and its sole purpose is to carry out loan securitisations. 
As provided for by Law no. 130/1999, the characteristic of the vehicle’s activity is the separation of its assets 
and liabilities from the segregated assets of the securitisations it owns. As a result of this segregation, the 
costs incurred to maintain the vehicle’s good standing are low and in any case recovered through specific 
contractual provisions that provide for their chargeback to the securitisation. 
This ensures that ISP CB Pubblico S.r.l. maintains adequate levels of assets over the life of the securitisation.  
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4.1.2 Quantitative disclosure 
 
4.1.2.1 Equity: breakdown 
 
The vehicle’s equity, amounting to €168,930, consists of quota capital of €120,000, split into quotas, the legal 
reserve (€2,448) and the extraordinary reserve (€46,482). 
 

 
 

4.2 Own Funds and Capital Ratios  

4.2.1 Own funds 

4.2.2 Qualitative disclosure 

The vehicle is not subject to the special rules on own funds and capital ratios. 

   31/12/2021 31/12/2020

1.  Quota capital 120,000 120,000

2.  Quota premium - - 

3.  Reserves 48,930 48,930

      - income-related 48,930 48,930

      a) legal 2,448 2,448

      b) statutory - - 

      c) treasury quotas - - 

      d) other 46,482 46,482

      - other - - 

4.  (Treasury quotas) - - 

5.  Valuation reserves - - 

      - Equity instruments at FVOCI - - 

      - Hedges of equity instruments at FVOCI - - 

      - Financial assets (other than equity instruments)
        at FVOCI - - 

      - Property, equipment and investment property - - 

      - Intangible assets - - 

      - Hedges of investments in foreign operations - - 

      - Cash flow hedges - - 

      - Hedging instruments (elements not designated)

      - Exchange rate differences - - 

      - Non-current assets held for sale and disposal groups - - 

      - Financial liabilities at FVTPL (change in credit rating) - - 

      - Special revaluation laws - - 

      - Actuarial gains/losses on defined benefit plans - - 

      - Portion of valuation reserves of 
         equity-accounted investees - - 

6.   Equity instruments - - 

7.   Net income (loss) - - 

Total 168,930 168,930
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Section 5 - Breakdown of comprehensive income 
 

Given that no other components of comprehensive income were recognised during the year (and in the 
previous year), there is no information to be provided in relation to the statement of comprehensive income, 
which is the same as the profit/(loss) for the year. 

 

 

Section 6 - Related-party transactions   
 
 
6.1 Information on remuneration of key management p ersonnel 
 

 

 
 
6.2 Loans and guarantees given to/on behalf of dire ctors and statutory auditors   
 
No loans or guarantees have been given to/on behalf of directors or statutory auditors.  
 
 
 
6.3 Related-party transactions   
 
Information about the vehicle’s related-party transactions is summarised in the following table: 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

Directors and
Statutory Auditors

Fees and social security contributions
- Directors
       - paid to Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. - 
       - other 23,401

- Statutory auditors 17,129

Total 40,530

 31/12/2021 

Assets and liabilities at 31/12/2021
Cash and cash 

equivalents
Other liabilities

- Directors and statutory auditors - 12,180 
- Parent: Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. 218,208 12

Total 218,208 12,192

Personnel Other administrative
expenses expenses

- Directors and statutory auditors 40,530 -  
- Parent: Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. - 35

Total 40,530 35

Income and expense for 2021
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Section 8 - Other information   
 
 
8.2 Other  
 
- Equity breakdown at 31 December 2021. 
 

 
 

- Fees for auditing services and non-auditing services in accordance with article 149-duodecies of the Consob 
Issuers’ Regulation 
 
 
The table below, prepared in accordance with article 149-duodecies of Consob Issuers’ Regulation no. 11971, 
shows the breakdown of the fees for the independent audit services and non-audit services due for the year, 
paid to the Independent Auditors EY S.p.A. and the companies in its network. The fees do not include VAT, 
Consob duties, and expense reimbursements.  
 

 
 
- Parent that prepares consolidated financial statements  
 
Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. - Piazza San Carlo 156 - Turin  
 
 
 

   
Amount at 
31/12/2021

Possible 
use (*)

Portion of 
earnings in 

tax 
suspension

to cover losses
for other 
reasons

Equity:

Quota capital 120,000 - - - 

Legal reserve 2,448 A (1), B, C (1) - - - 

Extraordinary reserve (Other reserves) 46,482 A, B, C - - - 

Total quota capital and reserves 168,930

Non-distributable portion 2,448     

(*) A = for capital increase; B = to cover losses; C = for distribution to quotaholders
(1) available for capital increase (A) and for distribution to quotaholders (C) in the amount exceeding one fifth of the quota capital

Summary of use in past three 
years

Audit EY S.p.A. 30,395

Other non-audit services EY S.p.A. 4,578

Total 34,973                           

Service Service provider Fees
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The following are the financial statements of Intesa Sanpaolo as at 31/12/2020. 
 
Intesa Sanpaolo Financial Statements - Balance shee t  
 

 

Assets

amount %

10. Cash and cash equivalents 5,402,330,985 6,013,356,038 -611,025,053 -10.2%

20. Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 57,072,628,465 22,973,103,973 34,099,524,492

   a) financial assets held for trading 53,737,448,596 19,871,692,215 33,865,756,381
   b) financial assets designated at fair value 1,163,237 195,028,564 -193,865,327 -99.4%
   c) other financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value 3,334,016,632 2,906,383,194 427,633,438 14.7%

30. Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income40,988,130,226 33,276,643,885 7,711,486,341 23.2%

40. Financial assets measured at amortised cost 470,244,703,700 439,932,789,628 30,311,914,072 6.9%
   a) due from banks 90,616,181,852 122,454,605,998 -31,838,424,146 -26.0%
   b) loans to customers 379,628,521,848 317,478,183,630 62,150,338,218 19.6%

50. Hedging derivatives 1,014,885,703 2,830,373,955 -1,815,488,252 -64.1%

60. Fair value change of financial assets in hedged portfolios (+/-)
2,333,380,783 1,525,813,562 807,567,221 52.9%

70. Equity investments 24,668,230,420 24,410,762,610 257,467,810 1.1%

80. Property and equipment 6,557,904,180 6,688,430,072 -130,525,892 -2.0%

90. Intangible assets 3,573,624,987 4,551,602,210 -977,977,223 -21.5%
- of which: goodwill 67,487,402 1,242,487,402 -1,175,000,000 -94.6%

100. Tax assets: 14,216,445,687 14,016,892,094 199,553,593 1.4%
   a) current 1,428,233,703 1,480,236,864 -52,003,161 -3.5%
   b) deferred 12,788,211,984 12,536,655,230 251,556,754 2.0%

110. Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations 1,798,133,896 469,027,127 1,329,106,769

120. Other assets 3,861,580,219 3,739,834,486 121,745,733 3.3%

TOTAL ASSETS 631,731,979,251 560,428,629,640 71,303,349,611 12.7%

31/12/2020 31/12/2019
changes
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Intesa Sanpaolo Financial Statements - Balance shee t  
 

 

Liabilities and equity

amount %

10. Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 491,392,699,923 476,324,527,437 15,068,172,486 3.2%
   a) due to banks 130,653,717,279 152,978,451,667 -22,324,734,388 -14.6%
   a) due to customers 288,693,749,406 247,937,370,294 40,756,379,112 16.4%
   c) securities issued 72,045,233,238 75,408,705,476 -3,363,472,238 -4.5%

20. Financial liabilities held for trading 60,829,575,108 16,446,060,192 44,383,514,916

30. Financial liabilities designated at fair value 2,810,054,443 1,914,031,202 896,023,241 46.8%

40. Hedging derivatives 5,386,985,108 7,323,119,194 -1,936,134,086 -26.4%

50. Fair value change of financial liabilities in hedged portfolios (+/-)
721,478,156 521,940,321 199,537,835 38.2%

60. Tax liabilities: 831,482,469 928,948,213 -97,465,744 -10.5%
   a) current 12,857,298 23,592,680 -10,735,382 -45.5%
   b) deferred 818,625,171 905,355,533 -86,730,362 -9.6%

70. Liabilities associated with non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations2,594,333,881 41,034,565 2,553,299,316

80. Other liabilities 8,000,290,475 7,500,204,651 500,085,824 6.7%
  

90. Employee termination indemnities 926,629,701 1,057,087,202 -130,457,501 -12.3%

100. Allowances for risks and charges: 4,124,438,581 3,099,839,100 1,024,599,481 33.1%
   a) commitments and guarantees given 404,079,280 384,991,008 19,088,272 5.0%
   b) post-employment benefits 212,006,481 205,670,392 6,336,089 3.1%
   c) other allowances for risks and charges 3,508,352,820 2,509,177,700 999,175,120 39.8%

110. Valuation reserves 1,175,672,767 1,374,623,166 -198,950,399 -14.5%

120. Redeemable shares - - - 0.0%

130. Equity instruments 7,053,190,135 4,102,664,631 2,950,525,504 71.9%

140. Reserves 7,609,176,236 3,399,458,545 4,209,717,691 123.8%

150. Share premium reserve 27,602,889,913 25,233,266,887 2,369,623,026 9.4%

160. Share capital 10,084,445,148 9,085,663,010 998,782,138 11.0%

170. Treasury shares (-) -90,059,757 -60,813,066 -29,246,691 48.1%

180. Net income 678,696,964 2,136,974,390 -1,458,277,426 -68.2%
        

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 631,731,979,251 560,428,629,640 71,303,349,611 12.7%

31/12/2020 31/12/2019
changes
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Intesa Sanpaolo Financial Statements - Statement of income 
 

 
 
Milan, 24 February 2022 
 
 

on behalf of the BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
Chairperson 

Paola Fandella 

Statement of income 2020 2019

amount %

10. Interest and similar income 7,265,227,533 7,282,086,219 -16,858,686 -0.2%
    of which: interest income calculated using the effective interest rate method 7,376,596,616 7,568,715,562 -192,118,946 -2.5%

 
20. Interest and similar expense -2,037,749,884 -2,874,258,933 836,509,049 -29.1%

30. INTEREST MARGIN 5,227,477,649 4,407,827,286 819,650,363 18.6%

40. Fee and commission income 5,243,401,909 5,097,939,877 145,462,032 2.9%

50. Fee and commission expense -847,625,430 -609,465,768 -238,159,662 39.1%

60. NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME 4,395,776,479 4,488,474,109 -92,697,630 -2.1%

70. Dividend and similar income 2,536,369,058 2,144,099,724 392,269,334 18.3%

80. Profits (Losses) on trading 463,395,069 38,655,668 424,739,401

90. Fair value adjustments in hedge accounting 36,167,928 -36,699,444 72,867,372

100. Profits (Losses) on disposal or repurchase of: 562,385,475 357,904,493 204,480,982 57.1%
   a) financial assets measured at amortised cost -200,010,161 -25,917,941 -174,092,220
   b) financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income

782,793,418 214,497,933 568,295,485
   c) financial liab ilities -20,397,782 169,324,501 -189,722,283

110. Profits (Losses) on other financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss
-51,273,079 17,662,586 -68,935,665

   a) financial assets and liab ilities designated at fair value 55,848,050 -95,452,555 151,300,605
   b) other financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value -107,121,129 113,115,141 -220,236,270

120. NET INTEREST AND OTHER BANKING INCOME 13,170,298,579 11,417,924,422 1,752,374,157 15.3%

130. Net losses/recoveries for credit risks associated with: -3,377,134,142 -1,965,432,618 -1,411,701,524 71.8%
   a) financial assets measured at amortised cost -3,369,195,440 -1,953,858,693 -1,415,336,747 72.4%
   b) financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income - 

-7,938,702 -11,573,925 3,635,223 -31.4%

140. Profits/losses on changes in contracts without derecognition -6,847,805 -5,072,667 -1,775,138 35.0%

150. NET INCOME FROM BANKING ACTIVITIES 9,786,316,632 9,447,419,137 338,897,495 3.6%

160. Administrative expenses: -8,573,392,874 -7,155,003,404 -1,418,389,470 19.8%
   a) personnel expenses -5,521,457,139 -4,498,946,183 -1,022,510,956 22.7%
   b) other administrative expenses -3,051,935,735 -2,656,057,221 -395,878,514 14.9%

170. Net provisions for risks and charges -629,401,493 -65,645,408 -563,756,085
   a) commitments and guarantees given -14,342,480 -863,098 -13,479,382
   b) other net provisions -615,059,013 -64,782,310 -550,276,703

180. Net adjustments to / recoveries on property and equipment -381,324,336 -391,583,737 10,259,401 -2.6%

190. Net adjustments to/recoveries on intangible assets -594,720,957 -536,880,647 -57,840,310 10.8%

200. Other net operating income 620,289,244 807,164,212 -186,874,968 -23.2%

210. OPERATING EXPENSES -9,558,550,416 -7,341,948,984 -2,216,601,432 30.2%

220. Profits (Losses) on equity investments -154,091,601 -56,028,166 -98,063,435

230. Valuation differences on property, equipment and intangible assets
 measured at fair value -33,266,293 -10,204,141 -23,062,152

240. Goodwill impairment -1,155,000,000 - -1,155,000,000

250. Profits (Losses) on disposal of investments 28,757,915 -111,598 28,869,513

260. INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS -1,085,833,763 2,039,126,248 -3,124,960,011

270. Taxes on income from continuing operations 638,567,347 34,130,294 604,437,053

280. INCOME (LOSS) AFTER TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS -447,266,416 2,073,256,542 -2,520,522,958

290. Income (Loss) after tax from discontinued operations 1,125,963,380 63,717,848 1,062,245,532

300. NET INCOME 678,696,964 2,136,974,390 -1,458,277,426 -68.2%

changes




